# **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

BETWEEN:

A.S.P. INCORPORATED



(hereinafter referred to as the "Company")

**AND** 

**UNIFOR LOCAL 2002** 



(hereinafter referred to as the "Union")

Lester B. Pearson International Airport

Expires: December 31, 2019

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ARTICLE NO. 1 – BARGAINING AGENCY and DEFINITION	. 1
ARTICLE NO. 2 – DURATION OF AGREEMENT	. 3
ARTICLE NO. 3 – UNION SECURITY	. 3
ARTICLE NO. 4 – DEDUCTION of UNION DUES	. 4
ARTICLE NO. 5 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	. 5
ARTICLE NO. 6 – UNION ACTIVITIES of EMPLOYEES and LEAVES of ABSENCE 6.1. UNION LEAVE	. 5 . 6 . 6 . 7
ARTICLE NO. 7 – UNION OFFICERS	. 9
ARTICLE NO. 8 – UNIFORMS and MISCELLANEOUS	. 10
ARTICLE NO. 9 – HEALTH AND SAFETY, WORKING ENVIRONMENT	. 11 . 12 . 12
ARTICLE NO. 10 – CONFLICTING AGREEMENT	. 13
ARTICLE NO. 11 – TRANSFER of TITLE or INTEREST	. 13
ARTICLE NO. 12 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	. 14
ARTICLE NO. 13 – PAYDAY and PAY STATEMENTS	. 15
ARTICLE NO. 14 – ANNUAL VACATIONS	. 16
ARTICLE NO. 15 – GENERAL HOLIDAYS	. 18
ARTICLE NO. 16 – SENIORITY and PROMOTIONS	. 19
ARTICLE NO. 17 – HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	. 22
ARTICLE NO. 18 – PERMANENT PART-TIME EMPLOYEES	. 25
ARTICLE NO. 19 – ON-CALL CASUAL EMPLOYEES	. 26
ARTICLE NO. 20 – CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT	. 27
ARTICLE NO. 21 – Doesn't Exist	. 29
ARTICLE NO. 22 – HEALTH and WELFARE PLAN	. 29
ARTICLE NO. 23 - RRSP CONTRIBUTIONS	29

ARTICLE NO. 24 – WAGE RATES	. 31
ARTICLE NO. 25 – SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT	. 34
ARTICLE NO. 26 – INSPECTION PRIVILEGES	. 34
ARTICLE NO. 27 – TRAINING, RE-CERTIFICATION, EVALUATION, EXTRA SKILL, REQUIREMENTS	. 34
ARTICLE NO. 28 – PARKING ALLOWANCE	. 35
ARTICLE NO. 29 – SAVING CLAUSE	. 35
ARTICLE NO. 30 – COMPENSATION COVERAGE	. 36
ARTICLE NO. 31 – STRIKES and PICKET LINES	. 36
ARTICLE NO. 32 – UNION EDUCATION TRUST FUND	. 36
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 1	. 38
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 2	. 39
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 3	. 40
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 4	. 42
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 5	
Mediation / Arbitration (Med/Arb)	. 44
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 6	. 45
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 7	. 47

### ARTICLE NO. 1 – BARGAINING AGENCY and DEFINITION

- 1.1. The Employer recognizes Unifor Local 2002 as the exclusive representative for the purpose of collective bargaining, and grievances arising from the Agreement, of all employees of A.S.P. Incorporated located at Lester B. Pearson International Airport, excluding those who perform management functions and those employed in a confidential capacity in matters relating to industrial relations, as per CIRB Order No. 9572-U
- 1.2. The Employer recognizes Unifor Local 2002 as the exclusive representative for the purpose of collective bargaining for all employees in the classifications listed herein.
- 1.3. The term "employee" as used in this Agreement, shall apply to any person performing work in any job that is covered by the Certificate and this Agreement. Should any other category become necessary within the bargaining unit, and there is no classification or wage rate contained in this Agreement for the job category, then the Union and the Employer shall immediately negotiate a classification and wage rate for that category.
- 1.4. (a) All work within the bargaining unit shall be performed only by those persons coming within the bargaining unit who are members of the Union or who are eligible to become members under <a href="Article No. 3">Article No. 3</a> herein, except in the case of emergency circumstances such as short staffing, training, and to attain/maintain certification, or as otherwise prescribed herein.
  - (b) This agreement is made and entered into by and between A.S.P. Incorporated, hereinafter referred to as the Employer and Unifor hereinafter referred to as the Union.
  - (c) The purpose of the Agreement is to define the relations between the Employer and the Union, the wages and working conditions of employees of the Employer represented by the Union, and means by which complaints, grievances and disputes shall be disposed of promptly and equitably.
  - (d) It is understood and agreed that all previous Agreements, whether oral or written, by and between the Employer and the Union are superseded by this Agreement.
  - (e) It is agreed by the parties that there will be no strikes or lockouts so long as this Agreement continues to be in effect pursuant to <a href="Article 2">Article 2</a> (duration and renewal).

- 1.5. A "Full-time Employee" is an employee who holds a permanent position on a continuous basis, in excess of Article No. 18.
- 1.6. A "Permanent Part-time Employee" is an employee who holds a permanent position on a continuous basis, in accordance with Article No. 18.1.
- 1.7. An "On-Call Casual Employee" is an employee who is offered work as set out in Article No. 19.
- 1.8. "Classification Seniority" (Department Seniority) is for purposes of this agreement;
  - Assignment of hours
  - Displacement within the classification
  - Scheduling (incl. shift vacancies)
  - Job posting within the classification
  - Awarding of over time
- 1.9. "Start Date Seniority" (Overall Seniority) shall be the first day on payroll with company and for purposes of this agreement;
  - Payment of wages (Article No. 24)
  - Lay off
  - Severance pay
  - Vacation entitlement
- 1.10. "Day" shall refer to calendar day unless expressly stated to the contrary
- 1.11. A "grievance" is defined as any difference arising out of the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the provisions of this Agreement. Any reference in any article to the right to grieve by an Employee or by the Union is solely for the purpose of emphasis.
- 1.12. "Assignment Displacement" occurs when the client of the employer notifies the employer that a particular job assignment that will no longer be required, this results in the loss of those shifts at that post/assignment.

### **ARTICLE NO. 2 – DURATION OF AGREEMENT**

- 2.1. This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from and including August 16, 2016 up to and including December 31, 2019 and shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter, subject to the right of either Party to this Agreement, within four (4) months immediately preceding the expiration date, or immediately preceding the anniversary date in any year thereafter, by written notice to the other Party, require the other Party to commence collective bargaining with a view to the conclusion of a renewal or revision of the Collective Agreement, or a new Collective Agreement.
- 2.2. Should either Party give written notice to the other Party pursuant hereto, this Agreement shall thereafter continue in full force and effect until the Union shall give notice of Strike, and such Strike has been implemented, or the Employer shall give notice of Lockout, and such Lockout has been implemented, or the Parties shall conclude a renewal or revision of the Agreement, or a new Collective Agreement.
- 2.3. The expiration date of the Agreement shall be deemed to be the day immediately preceding the implementation of a Strike by the Union, or the implementation of a Lockout by the Employer.

### **ARTICLE NO. 3 – UNION SECURITY**

- 3.1. The Union recognizes the right of the Employer to hire whomever they choose, subject to the seniority provisions contained herein. The Employer shall, however, give the Union an opportunity to refer suitable applicants for employment.
- 3.2. The Employer agrees that when new employees who are not referred by the Union, are hired, the Employer shall have such employee complete the required Application for Union Membership cards, as supplied by the Union to the Employer, and ensure they are forwarded to the Union offices as soon as possible.
- 3.3. All employees shall be required to become and remain a member in good standing of the Union, as a condition of employment with the Employer.

### ARTICLE NO. 4 – DEDUCTION of UNION DUES

- 4.1. The Employer shall, no later than the tenth (10) day of each month, remit to the Union a list containing the names of all employees who have left their employ since the previous check off was remitted, in addition to the names of all new employees hired during the preceding check off month. The Union shall then immediately send the Employer a current check off list based on the information supplied by the Employer.
- 4.2. Fifteen (15) days after an employee commences employment, they shall have an amount equivalent to the monthly dues of the Union deducted from their wages, and that amount, along with the employee's name, will be added to the Union check off, before same is mailed to the Union. The Employer will deduct the Initiation Fee from the employee after the employee has completed the probationary period which is ninety (90) days of employment.
- 4.3. All employees referred to above, will be required to sign an authorization form for the deduction and remittance of Initiation Fees, Union Dues, and fines and/or assessments, which may be levied by the Union in accordance with the Union's Constitution and/or By-Laws.
- 4.4. The Employer shall deduct and pay over to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Local Union, such Initiation Fees, Union Dues, fines and or assessments levied in accordance with the Union's By-Laws, owing by the said employees hereunder to the said Union. Monies deducted during any month shall be forwarded by the Employer to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Local Union, not later than the tenth (10) day of the month following the month to which such monies apply, and shall be accompanied by a written statement which will include the names of the employees for whom the deductions were made, and the amount of each deduction. The Employer is entitled to rely absolutely upon a certificate of the Secretary-Treasurer of the Local Union that such fees, dues, fines and or assessments were levied in accordance with the Local Union's By-Laws.
- 4.5. The Union shall forward all authorization forms to the Employer. It shall be the responsibility of the Employer to take proper and due care of all authorization forms sent to the Employer by the Union.

### ARTICLE NO. 5 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 5.1. Unless expressly limited or addressed by this agreement, the employer retains the right to manage all aspects of the operation including but not limited to, direct the working force, the operations, hire, discipline and terminate employees for proper cause and consistent with the current Collective Agreement.
- 5.2. The Union recognizes the exclusive right of the Employer to manage and direct the Employer's business in all respects in accordance with its commitments, and to alter from time to time, rules and regulations to be observed by employees, which rules and regulations shall not be inconsistent with this Agreement. A copy of all rules and regulations shall be given to the Union. The Employer will notify the Union of any changes to the rules and regulations prior to implementation, and post notices of these changes prior to implementation.

# ARTICLE NO. 6 – UNION ACTIVITIES of EMPLOYEES and LEAVES of ABSENCE

### 6.1. UNION LEAVE

- 6.1.1. The Employer shall allow time off work, without pay, to any employee who is serving as a Union delegate to any conference or function, provided all requests for time off are reasonable and do not interfere with the proper operation of the business. Any such requests must be made at least seven (7) days in advance. No employee who acts within the scope of this clause shall lose their job or be discriminated against for so acting.
- 6.1.2. During an authorized, unpaid leave of absence, an employee shall retain and accrue seniority.
- 6.1.3. An employee who goes to work for the Local Union which represents the employee in his/her bargaining unit, may apply for an unpaid leave of absence from the employer for a period not to exceed one hundred and eighty (180) days. Such leave will not be unduly withheld, and when granted, the Employer will do so in writing, with a copy to the Union. The employee will continue to accrue seniority during such leave. At the expiration of the one hundred and eighty (180) days, the employee must return to his/her former position or relinquish all seniority rights with the Employer.

### 6.2. LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY

- 6.2.1. Employees must file a request in writing for leave of absence, at least fourteen (14) days in advance, and the Employer must reply in writing to the said leave of absence within seven (7) days of the request. Any employee approved for a leave of absence in excess of thirty (30) days may be required to return any or all items issued to them for work purposes.
- 6.2.2. An employee requesting an unpaid Compassionate leave will be given special consideration, and may be required to substantiate the reason for such Leave, prior to returning to work
- 6.2.3. When the requirements of the Employer's service will permit, any employee hereunder upon written application to the Employer with a copy to the Union, may, if approved by the Employer be granted an unpaid leave of absence in writing with a copy to the Union, for a period of up to thirty (30) days. Under such unpaid leave, the employee shall retain and accrue seniority only. Accrued vacation time must be exhausted prior to the start of a leave of absence.
- 6.2.4. Such leave may be extended for an additional period of up to thirty (30) days, without pay, when approved by the Employer in writing, with a copy to the Union, and seniority shall accrue during such extension. Such request for extension must be made in writing at least seven (7) days prior to the expiration of the original leave.
- 6.2.5. Any employee hereunder on an unpaid leave of absence engaged in gainful employment without prior written permission from both the Employer and the Union or uses an authorized leave of absence for a purpose other than that for which it was granted, shall forfeit his/her seniority rights and his/her name will be stricken from the Seniority List, and he/she shall no longer be considered an employee of the Employer.

### 6.3. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

6.3.1. The Employer will grant upon request up to Four (4) days Leave of Absence with pay in the event of death in the immediate family, (mother, father, husband, wife, children, sister, brother, common law partner, & grandparent/grandchildren) and two (2) days Leave of Absence with pay, event of death in the extended family (mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law), provided the days fall on a regularly scheduled work day of the employee. Additional time unpaid leave may be granted with documentation for purposes of overseas travel.

6.3.2. Proof of death may be required, if requested by management. The Employer will not require any person already on bereavement leave to report for work during the bereavement period. If an employee is notified of a death in his immediate family while working, he/she shall be relieved from duty and paid for the balance of his/her shift.

### 6.4. LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY – OTHER REASONS

- 6.4.1. Jury Duty An employee who is called for jury duty will receive for each day of necessary absence on that account the difference between his/her regular earnings for that day and the amount of the fee received from the court, provided that the employee furnishes the Employer with evidence of service. An employee who is called for jury duty must provide the Employer with the jury notice no less than seven days in advance of the scheduled court date. Once an employee is released from jury duty, he/she shall be returned to the job classification and pay rate they were on, prior to such duty. The employee must be returned to his regular assignment that he/she was on prior to being summoned, either during a break in the court proceeding of more than seven days, or on the completion thereof.
- 6.4.2. In the event an employee is subpoenaed to attend court on his/her day off, on Employer related business only, the Employer will reschedule that employee's shift.
- 6.4.3. Maternity and Parental Leave shall be as defined and outlined in the Canada Labour Code. The employee shall give the Employer four (4) weeks' notice, in writing, of the day upon which she intends to commence the Leave, and a certificate of a qualified medical practitioner stating that she is pregnant. Where an employee intends to resume her employment with the Employer upon expiration of the Leave, the employee shall notify the employer not less than four (4) weeks prior to her return. The employer shall reinstate her employment at not less than the same wages and benefits.
- 6.4.4. Special Medical Leave Where an employee is required to absent him/ herself from work in order to attend an appointment with a medical specialist, the employer shall grant such unpaid time off providing the employee has requested such time off at least seven (7) days in advance of the appointment. Special consideration will be given in the event of short notice of appointments due to openings with the medical specialist due to cancellations.

- 6.4.5. When an employee suffers an injury or illness which requires his/her absence, they shall report the fact to the Employer as soon as possible, prior to their actual starting time, so that adequate replacement may be made if necessary. The reporting of such injury or illness should be made prior to starting times minimum of (4) Hours. Failure to comply may result in disciplinary action.
- 6.4.6. Employees must keep the Employer notified of their correct address and phone number at all times.

### 6.5. SHIFT CHANGES AND EXCHANGES

- 6.5.1. Shift amendment and shift exchange requests must be submitted to the Employer in the approved format. Shifts may only be traded between employees with the same qualifications and within the same classification of work. Shift Amendment Requests will be accepted for review up to seventy-two (72) hours prior to the start of the first effected shift. Urgent exceptions may be considered on a case-by-case basis.
- 6.5.2. Shift Changes or giveaways can be made if approved by a supervisor or coordinator in advance of the shift. It is understood and agreed that no shift exchange or giveaway shall result in one employee receiving any premium payment. Furthermore, it is understood that the intent of this provision is not to permit employees to permanently trade away their shifts which were subject to the shift bid process.
- 6.5.3. In the case of a shift exchange, both parties must sign the Shift Amendment Request and must ensure that the shift exchange has been approved. Shift exchanges are paid at straight time. Shift exchanges will not result in overtime and cannot be combined with other Shift Amendment requests. i.e. no three-way or more trades.
- 6.5.4. Shift exchanges are intended to help employees have flexibility to deal with short-term Schedule demands. They cannot be used to create extended periods where the employee is away from work. Failure to comply with the proper shift amendment procedures may result in a loss of shift exchange privileges for the employee concerned for sixty (60) days.

### ARTICLE NO. 7 – UNION OFFICERS

- 7.1. The Union shall appoint or elect Union Officers and shall notify the Employer in writing of the appointment or election. The Union will ensure that there is a Union Officer or Union Representative available during the operating hours of the Employer's business. The Employer shall only recognize such Union Officers when notified in writing by the Union, and shall not discriminate against them for lawful Union activity. The Employer will supply and install bulletin boards in both terminals.
- 7.2. The Union shall supply to Management on or about each January 1, a list of the employees acting as Union Officers. Such list will indicate the name of the employee and the location. The Union will notify the Employer of any changes to the list of Union Officers as they occur.
- 7.3. Union Officers will suffer no loss of regular pay when processing grievances under Steps 1 and 2 of the Grievance Procedure. It is understood that the Union Officers have their regular work to perform and that when it is necessary to service a grievance during working hours they will not leave their work without receiving permission from their immediate Supervisor or Employer designate. Such permission will not be unreasonably denied. When resuming their work, they will report back to their immediate supervisor or Employer designate.
- 7.4. The Employer will notify the Union prior to the dismissal of any Union Officer.
- 7.5. Members of the negotiating committee who are employees of the Employer shall suffer no loss in pay for time spent during normal working hours attending negotiations, conciliation and mediation meetings for up to a maximum of ten (10) days pay per person which will include one (1) day after bargaining has completed for the purposes of reviewing and editing the collective agreement. Once a No-Board report has been issued, the employer will no longer maintain pay for the negotiating committee.
- 7.6. The Company agrees to supply on request, to the national representative of Unifor or their designate, the names of all members of the union working for the company.
- 7.7. The Company agrees to advise the Officer concerned when an employee is hired, terminated, transferred, reclassified, demoted, dismissed or promoted to a management position. Such advice shall be given to the Officer within a reasonable time of the employee being hired.

7.8. The Company will provide the union with a copy of the Seniority list each quarter. This list will include the name of the employee, job title, seniority, wage schedule and classification. (full time, part time or casual).

### ARTICLE NO. 8 – UNIFORMS and MISCELLANEOUS

8.1. All employees will purchase their own first uniform in accordance with the following values and will remit payment by payroll deduction in an amount not to exceed twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) per pay period. In the event an employee is terminated from employment for any reason, all remaining outstanding amounts will be deducted from the final pay cheque in one lump sum.

Full Time Tactical: Part Time Tactical:

4 Shirts 2 Shirts

2 Pairs of Pants 1 Pair of Pants

1 Tie 1 Tie 1 Hat 1 Hat

1 Sweater or Bomber Jacket 1 Bomber Jacket

Full Time Tactical Part Time Tactical

\$405.00 \$285.00

- 8.2. All uniforms shall be expected to last a minimum of 12 months after the date of issue. After that time uniforms will be replaced on an as needed basis only, without further cost to the employee.
- 8.3. The employer shall reimburse up to eighty (\$80.00) dollars for CSA approved safety boots after twelve (12) months of employment with the presentation of a valid receipt of purchase and shall reimburse up to eighty (\$80.00) dollars every twenty-four (24) months thereafter with the presentation of a valid receipt of purchase.
- 8.4. All uniform items remain the property of the employer. Upon termination of employment, the employee is required to return all pieces of the uniform. Upon return of all issued uniform items to the employer, it is agreed there will be a rebate, provided the uniform items are not damaged. The rebate will consist of one hundred (\$100.00) dollars for the return of full time

uniform and fifty (\$50.00) dollars for part time uniform as defined in <u>Article</u> No. 8.1.

8.5. The Employer shall hold back \$50.00 for each piece of ID that the employee is issued through their tenure with the company. Upon termination of employment the employee is required to return their ID prior to the last processing date for payment of wages. The total cost of each piece of ID, as defined by the G.T.A.A. will be withheld from wages until proof of return is provided.

### ARTICLE NO. 9 – HEALTH AND SAFETY, WORKING ENVIRONMENT

### 9.1. HEALTH AND SAFETY

9.1.1. All employees will co-operate in the strict observance of all safety regulations at all times. They will make full use of all safety and accident prevention devices and equipment as provided and maintain safe working practices during their hours of employment within the Airport. It is the responsibility of the employees to observe all safety provisions and to immediately advise the Employer and the Safety Committee Member of any unsafe working conditions.

The Employer agrees to maintain provisions for the safety of its employees during the hours of employment and to provide an accident prevention program with reference to accident hazards. The Union shall or appoint or elect Health and Safety Officers as per the Unifor Local 2002 By-laws.

Any outstanding matter relevant to safety conditions may be brought up and dealt with at a meeting between the Union and Employer should the matter not be resolved between the Safety Committee and the Employer.

The Employer agrees to adhere to the first aid requirements as per the Canada Labour Code.

- 9.1.2. Each employee shall use or wear the equipment, materials and protective devices or clothing that the Employer requires to be worn or used.
- 9.1.3. Employees are required to report any workplace accident/injury to the Employer immediately. If as a result of a workplace injury/illness an employee will miss any time beyond the day on which the injury/illness

occurs the employee must be seen by a doctor within twenty-four (24) hours and provide the employer with proof of same.

9.1.4. Both the employer and the union jointly declare their intent to develop and maintain a safe workplace and agree that work practices shall be governed by all applicable legislation.

### 9.2. NO DISCRIMINATION / HARASSMENT

9.2.1. The parties agree that there shall be no discrimination or harassment against any employees by reason of race, national or ethnic origin, colour, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, family status, disability, union membership or non-membership, nor for any other reason which is prohibited by the Canadian Human Rights Act. The Company and the Union further agree that bullying shall be dealt with in a serious manner and treated with the same severity and level of concern as discrimination and harassment.

### 9.2.2. Bullying and Harassment

Bullying and harassment are often described as a course of comment or conduct that is known, or ought reasonably to be known, to be unwelcome. The unwelcome conduct causes an intimidating, threatening, or hostile work environment such that the victim's work performance is impaired, their relationships are negatively affected and their dignity is denied. Management responsibilities such as the assignment of work tasks, employee coaching and progressive discipline are not considered bullying.

9.2.3. The Employer and the Union will not condone harassment in the workplace and will cooperate to maintain a harassment free workplace.

### 9.2.4. Complaint Resolution – Discrimination or Harassment

If an employee believes that he/she has been harassed and/or discriminated against on the basis of a prohibited ground of discrimination the employee may:

- a) Tell the person involved as soon as possible how he/she feels and request that they stop the conduct found offensive.
- b) If the employee feels uncomfortable approaching the person, or if the harassment continues, they should bring the incident forming the basis of the complaint to the attention of a Manager and the Unifor Regional Vice President, Unifor District Chair, the Unifor National Representative or the Local 2002 President.

- The parties will review the complaint and, if the complaint is between members of the bargaining unit, may strike a committee and carry out a joint investigation. Where the complaint is in respect of a member of management or a non-member of the bargaining unit the parties will discuss the best approach and, absent agreement, the Employer will investigate.
- d) The Joint Committee will consist of equal members of Management and the Union. The actual composition of the joint committee will be determined by the parties on a case by case basis but with no less than one member each.
- e) Where the Joint Committee does not render a decision with majority support, the determination of the Management will prevail.
- f) All matters brought before the committee will be dealt with the utmost confidentiality.
- g) Nothing herein shall prevent an employee from seeking redress under the Canadian Human Rights Act with respect to complaints of discrimination or harassment.

### ARTICLE NO. 10 – CONFLICTING AGREEMENT

10.1. The Employer agrees not to enter into any agreement or contract with the employees covered by this Agreement, individually or collectively, which in any way conflicts with the terms and provisions of this Agreement or any statute of Canada. Any such agreement will be null and void.

### ARTICLE NO. 11 – TRANSFER of TITLE or INTEREST

- 11.1. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties hereto, their successors, administrators, executors and assigns. In the event that the entire operation is sold, leased, transferred or taken over by sale, transfer, lease, assignment, receivership or bankruptcy proceeding, such operation shall continue to be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement for the life thereof.
- 11.2. The Employer shall not use another limited Employer, device or leasing device to avoid the conditions of this Agreement and agrees not to use a subsidiary or allied Employer to circumvent the terms of this Agreement.

This includes not subcontracting and or using an agency or agency employees to avoid the terms of the Agreement.

### **ARTICLE NO. 12 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

12.1. All questions, disputes and controversies arising under this Agreement or any supplement hereto shall be adjusted and settled within the terms and conditions as set forth in this Agreement in the manner provided by this Article, unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement. The procedure for such adjustment and settlement shall be as follows:

**STEP 1:** Any grievance of an employee shall first be taken up between such employee and their immediate Supervisor or Employer designate. However, such employee will be entitled to be accompanied by a Union Representative Step 1 must be completed with ten (10) days, (exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays):

Time limit to institute grievance: Termination or layoff – ten (10) days; All others – fifteen (15) days

STEP 2: Failing settlement under Step 1, the grieving party shall reduce their grievance to writing stating the Article(s) alleged to have been violated such grievance shall be taken up between the Employer's Operations Manager or designate and a Local Union Representative. Except by mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer providing for an extension of time, Step 2 must be completed with ten (10) days, (exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays) from the completion of Step 1.

STEP 3: Failing settlement under Step 2, such grievance and any question, dispute or controversy that is not of a kind that is subject to Steps 1 and 2, will be referred to and taken up between two (2) Union representatives selected by the Union and two (2) Employer representatives appointed by an Officer of the Employer. Such written notice and meeting must take place within ten (10) days (exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays) from the completion of Step 2.

Except by mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer providing for an extension of time, Step 3 must be completed within ten (10) days, (exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays) from the completion of Step 2.

**STEP 4:** Failing settlement under the above Steps and within fifteen (15) days, the matter will be referred to an agreed upon neutral person to act as an Arbitrator who will meet with the parties to hear both sides of the case. Failing to agree upon a neutral person, the Minister of Labour will be requested to appoint a neutral Arbitrator.

The Arbitrator shall be requested to hand down his decision within thirty (30) days following completion of the hearing and his decision shall be final and binding on the two (2) parties to the dispute.

The cost of the Arbitrator will be borne equally by the Union and the Employer.

- 12.2. Grievances under this Article may be initiated by any employee, a group of employees, the Union or by the Employer.
- 12.3. Where an employee is suspended by the Employer pending investigation, the employer will make best efforts to conduct the investigation promptly, preferably within five (5) working days. Should additional time be required, the Employer agrees to notify the union of the need to continue the investigation and an anticipated time for completion. In any event, it is agreed that the investigation shall not be unduly delayed, when such delays are within the control of the Employer.
- 12.4. All disciplinary action, save and except discipline imposed for harassment, workplace violence, theft or security breaches shall be withdrawn from the employees personnel record eighteen(18) months from the date on the disciplinary notice and cannot be used against the employee at a later date.

### ARTICLE NO. 13 - PAYDAY and PAY STATEMENTS

- 13.1. All employees covered by this Agreement shall be paid on a definite biweekly basis, and dates will not be altered without consent of the Union except when a regular pay day conflicts with a holiday.
- 13.2. The Employer shall provide every employee covered by this Agreement with a separate or detachable written or printed itemized statement in respect of all wage payments made to such employee. The delivery of this pay statement will be by email unless a written request is received by the employee for it to be mailed. Such statement shall set forth the total hours

- worked, the total overtime hours worked, the rate of wages applicable, and all deductions made from the gross amount of wages.
- 13.3. Payment of wages will be made by direct deposit to the employee's bank account. The employee is responsible for notifying the Employer of any change to their banking information. The Employer will not be held liable for any costs incurred by the employee as a result of the employee's failure to provide the Employer with current banking information in a timely manner.
- 13.4. If an error in payroll is detected by the employee, it will be brought to the attention of the Employer within 90 days of the date effected. Notification of the error will be made on the Employer approved pay discrepancy report and be accompanied by all required documentation. After verification of the error, any error in payroll calculation by the Employer, of fifty dollars (\$50.00) or more, shall be paid to the employee within three (3) business days, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and General Holidays.

### ARTICLE NO. 14 – ANNUAL VACATIONS

- 14.1. Vacations will be granted on the basis of years of service with the Employer. A calendar year will be from January 1 to December 31 of each year.
- 14.2. In the first year of employment, employees will be credited with one (1) day of vacation for each month of employment, to a maximum of two (2) weeks during that calendar year. Such vacation is to be taken within the period of January 1st of the year following the first year of employment through to December 31st of the next year. Vacation will be four percent (4%) of the gross wages paid to that employee in the portion of the year worked.
- 14.3. Employees who have previously completed or subsequently complete one (1) calendar year as an employee shall receive two (2) weeks' vacation at four percent (4%) of their annual gross earnings for the calendar year for which they are receiving their vacation.
- 14.4. Employees who have previously completed or subsequently completed five (5) years continuous service and thereafter, as an employee shall receive three (3) weeks' vacation at six percent (6%) of their annual gross earnings for the calendar year for which they are receiving said vacation.

- 14.5. Employees who have previously completed or subsequently completed ten (10) years continuous service and thereafter, as an employee shall receive four (4) weeks' vacation at eight percent (8%) of their annual gross earnings for the calendar year for which they are receiving said vacation.
- 14.6. Employees who have previously completed or subsequently completed fifteen (15) years continuous service and thereafter, as an employee shall receive five (5) weeks' vacation at ten percent (10%) of their annual gross earnings for the calendar year for which they are receiving said vacation.
- 14.7. Employees who have previously completed or subsequently completed twenty (20) years continuous service and thereafter, as an employee shall receive six (6) weeks' vacation at twelve percent (12%) of their annual gross earnings for the calendar year for which they are receiving said vacation.
- 14.8. Should a General Holiday occur while an employee is on vacation, the employee shall receive another day off with pay at the end of their vacation period, in lieu of said General Holiday. All available vacation weeks will be posted annually and be available by November 15th for the following year. Employees shall select their choice of vacation in order of seniority.
- 14.9. Employees will have the ability to change their vacation choice on a first come first serve basis, after the close of the bidding period, with two (2) weeks written notice to the Employer providing there are designated slots still available.
- 14.10. The following classifications will be recognized as separate groups for determining allocation of vacation:
  - Full-time
  - Part-time
- 14.11. Employees shall select vacation time in accordance with their seniority, subject however to the Employer's right to limit the number of employees who may take vacations in any given week due to operational requirements.
- 14.12. Annual vacation will be taken within the calendar year.
- 14.13. Employees, at their option, shall have the right to split their vacation into separate periods consisting of a minimum of one (1) week at a time. The Employer will do its utmost to co-operate with any employee's vacation requirements in extenuating circumstances. If issues of overlap arise they will be identified at the time of booking vacation. An employee's vacation

- will not be unreasonably denied because of overlap with a more senior employee's vacation.
- 14.14. In the event that an employee leaves the employ of the Employer before they are entitled to two (2) weeks' vacation, he/she shall receive four percent (4%) of the gross earnings they received while in the employ of the Employer.
- 14.15. In the event of an employee leaving the employ of the Employer after they have had their vacation they earned for the previous year, they shall receive four percent (4%), six percent (6%) eight percent (8%), ten percent (10%) or twelve percent (12%) as the case may be, of their pay for the year in which he ends his/her employment for which no vacation has been paid.
- 14.16. Employer shall distribute vacation pay through pay roll deposit twice annually, except by written request by the employee.
- 14.17. Despite Article No 1.9 former G4S employees hired after Jan 27, 2008 until Feb 14, 2008 will have their vacation entitlement based on their classification seniority instead of "start date seniority" while remaining only in the 'TAC' classification.

### **ARTICLE NO. 15 – GENERAL HOLIDAYS**

- 15.1 The following days as declared by the Federal and/or Provincial Governments shall be recognized as General Holidays:
  - New Year's Day
  - Good Friday
  - Victoria Day
  - Canada Day
  - Labour Day

- Thanksgiving Day
- Remembrance Day
- Christmas Day
- Boxing Day
- 15.2. Following the first thirty (30) days of employment each full-time employee shall be paid 1/20th of the wages, excluding overtime, they have earned in the four (4) week period immediately preceding the week in which the general holiday occurs. In order to qualify for General Holiday pay, employees must work their last scheduled shift before the holiday and their first regularly scheduled shift after the holiday, and work their

- scheduled shift on the holiday if the holiday falls on the employee's regularly scheduled day of work.
- 15.3. Following the first thirty (30) days of employment each permanent parttime employee shall be paid 1/20th of the wages, excluding overtime,
  they have earned in the four (4) week period immediately preceding the
  week in which the general holiday occurs. In order to qualify for General
  Holiday pay, employees must work their last scheduled shift before the
  holiday and their first regularly scheduled shift after the holiday, and work
  their scheduled shift on the holiday if the holiday falls on the employee's
  regularly scheduled day of work.
- 15.4. In addition to 15.2 and 15.3 above, employees working on a General Holiday, following the first thirty (30) days of employment, shall be paid at a rate of time and one half (1 1/2) times their regular rate of pay for all hours worked on the General Holiday.
- 15.5. In the event that a work shift overlaps the beginning or the end of a General Holiday, the criteria shall be that all hours actually worked on the General Holiday, between 00:01 and 23:59 midnight, shall be considered as worked on a General Holidays for each individual employee.
- 15.6. Any time worked on a holiday is not counted in calculating overtime entitlement.

### ARTICLE NO. 16 – SENIORITY and PROMOTIONS

- 16.1. The principle of seniority shall be maintained in the reduction and restoration of the work force, providing the senior person is capable of performing the remaining job.
- 16.2. Strict seniority (as defined in <u>Article No 1.8 & 1.9</u>) shall prevail at all times, subject to the particular employee(s) being capable and having the appropriate qualification for any work which is to be done. Seniority shall be based from the last date of hire with the Company.

Seniority shall cease and employment shall be terminated for any of the following reasons:

• if an employee guits;

- if an employee fails to report for their scheduled shift without notifying the employer in advance of the reason for their absence, and subsequently does not make contact directly with the employer (messages are not sufficient) within seventy-two (72) hours of start of their scheduled shift.
- is laid off and not recalled for a continuous period in excess of twelve
   (12) months or; where an employee has been employed for a period
   of less than twelve (12) months, the length of the recall period will be
   limited to the length of the employee's employment;
- fails to notify the Employer of his/her intention to return to work within seven (7) calendar days of being given notice of recall or fails to return to work on the date of recall as set out in the notice of recall;
- Works for a direct competitor of the Employer.
- Fails to return to work upon the expiration of an authorized leave of absence or vacation.
- 16.3. Should two or more persons have the same start date, the seniority ranking for that group of employees shall be by random draw witnessed by a Shop Steward.
- 16.4. Any alleged breach of this clause shall be the basis of a grievance. When it becomes necessary to reduce the working force, the last person hired shall be laid off first, subject to ability to qualify and when the force is again increased, employees are to be returned to work in reverse order in which they are laid off during the layoff process, subject to qualifications.
- 16.5. For purposes of any assignment displacements/post closures:
  - a) The affected employee shall displace the most junior person on same shift, same status, within the classification, so that they can keep their same 'time of day' hours if possible.
  - b) the first displaced employee will displace the most junior on another shift, same status, within the classification if possible or (e),
  - the second displaced junior employee will displace the most junior employee on the last shift, same status, within the classification if possible or (e)
  - d) the last employee displaced will be offered casual work when available.
  - e) Any employee can opt to go directly to a casual status during this process and the displacements will stop at that point.

- 16.6. (a) Any employee promoted to any position outside the bargaining unit, and at a later date proves to be unsatisfactory for any such position, or there is a reduction in staff of the department, or if the employee wishes not to accept such position on a permanent basis, may be reinstated to his/her former position within the bargaining unit without loss of seniority, or accrued seniority, provided this occurs within ninety (90) days of the promotion, providing they continue paying union dues.
  - (b) Any persons who use this clause to return to the bargaining unit under 6.5.2(a) will be provided shifts in the same/similar manner but not necessarily same shift location as prior to departing for the role outside of the bargaining unit
- 16.7. The Employer shall add any new employees and delete those whose employment is terminated.
- 16.8. There will be one (1) master seniority list for all employees covered by this agreement. Separate seniority lists will be provided for each classification of employees covered by this Agreement.
- 16.9. Any employee wishing to protest seniority must do so within thirty (30) days of the posting of the seniority lists.
- 16.10. Part-time employees will be end-tailed onto the classification/departmental seniority list.
- 16.11. Due to the nature of the Employers business, new hires will be subject to a probationary period equal to ninety (90) days. During the probationary period the Employer will have the right to discontinue the employment of any employee.
- 16.12. When there are shift vacancies available a notice of such vacancies will be posted as far in advance as possible. The deadline date for acceptance of applications will be no less than seven (7) days after the posting. Classification/Department Seniority shall prevail provided the employee has the necessary qualifications posted for the vacancy. The same practice will apply with regards to filling training vacancies when training classes are scheduled. If an employee fails a particular training course, said employee will be restricted from reapplying for the same training course for a period of six (6) months.

- 16.13. In the event of an emergency staffing requirement, the Employer shall be allowed to negate the seniority list and provide emergency coverage. The Employer will notify the union of such a requirement.
- 16.14. It is understood that an employee who transfers to a different classification/department shall be entailed on the Classification/Department Seniority list regardless of the employee's date of last hire.

### ARTICLE NO. 17 – HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

- 17.1. The calendar week shall be from 00:00 Sunday to 23:59 the following Saturday.
- 17.2. Full time employees, who report for work on a regular scheduled work day, will be guaranteed a minimum of four (4) hours pay unless the employee volunteers to leave early or operations are impacted by an Act of God.
- 17.3. Employees are paid bi-weekly by direct deposit. Overtime is paid at a rate of one and one-half (1 1/) times the employee's regular rate of pay for all approved hours in excess of eighty-four (84) hours in the two-week pay period. A normal work week shall be defined as forty (40) scheduled hours in five (5) or less days with two (2) days off although this is not a guarantee of hours.
- 17.4. The Employer may establish a work week based on operational requirements which may include shifts from 4-12 hours in duration.
- 17.5. When an employee's scheduled shift or schedule start time is to be permanently altered, the Employer will advise the employee in writing as far in advance as possible, but not less than seven (7) days prior to the change.
- 17.6. The Employer will avoid adjusting an employee's permanent schedule for the sole purpose of avoiding paying overtime.
- 17.7. The Employer reserves the right to alter an employee's schedule to accommodate training. In such case, no schedule will be altered in such a way that the employee works less than his regularly scheduled hours.
- 17.8. The Employer shall have the right to revise shifts at any time in order to meet operational scheduling changes and customer work requirements.

- Should only a certain number of employees be required to revise their shift times, the Employer will endeavour to accomplish this on a volunteer basis in order of seniority.
- 17.9. When an employee meets with an accident at work which hampers them from the normal performance of duties, they shall be paid a full day wages for the day of the accident.
- 17.10. Employees will be given a minimum of eight (8) hours free from duty between shifts.
- 17.11. All employees may be required to work on a day off, all of which shall be voluntary and awarded in order of seniority. It is agreed that employees who wish to be called on their days off, will be required to submit their name to the scheduling department on the call-out list, confirming their availability to work on their regularly scheduled days off. The call out list will be posted bi-weekly onsite for employees to sign up for available shifts in the following pay period. The employer will use the call-out list and assign shifts and opportunities for overtime in order of Classification/ Department seniority.
- 17.12. Overtime will be paid in minimum fifteen (15) minute increments.
- 17.13. When a full-time employee is called to work and attends on one of their days off, they shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours pay at the applicable rate of pay.
- 17.14. If an employee volunteers to leave early when working overtime on their day off, they will be paid only for the time worked.

### 17.15. Meal and Coffee breaks will be as follows:

- 17.15.1. Employees scheduled on eight (8) and ten (10) hour shifts shall be entitled to take paid coffee and meal breaks totaling one (1) hour per shift. These breaks can be taken either fifteen (15) minutes, twenty (20) minutes or thirty (30) minutes at a time or as a one (1) hour break subject to operational requirements.
- 17.15.2. Employees scheduled on twelve (12) hour shifts shall be entitled 75 minutes paid break time. Employees scheduled twelve (12) hour shifts will be provided 45 minutes "free from work" during their shift. This may be broken in two intervals (30 & 15 minutes). This time is inclusive of the total breaks, not in addition.

- 17.15.3. A part-time employee who works more than four and one-half (4 1/2) hours per day is entitled to a thirty (30) minute paid meal break.
- 17.15.4. A part-time employee who works more than four and one-half (4 1/2) hours per day is entitled to a thirty (30) minute paid meal break plus a fifteen (15) minute paid break for each four (4) hours worked before and/ or beyond the meal break.
- 17.15.5. Employees working overtime shall receive a fifteen (15) minute paid break for the first four (4) hours of overtime, and if more than four (4 1/2) hours is worked, a thirty (30) minute paid meal break at mutually agreeable times.
- 17.15.6. If an employee's break is interrupted, they should note this with a supervisor immediately so arrangements for a replacement break may be made.
- 17.15.7. Where an employee is working in a position where they have facilities (eg. gate), it is understood that breaks will be self-directed and taken at the post as scheduled by the employee having regard to the normal work flow. If an employee at such a post is unable to take breaks as a result of being recalled for recorded work duty interruptions, they will immediately note this with a supervisor and break relief will be scheduled. It is understood that Supervisory Personnel may perform break relief.
- 17.15.8. It is agreed that operational requirements may impede the above; however, in all circumstances the Employer will use its best efforts to comply with the above. It is also agreed that the parties will cooperate with each other in the administering of the above as operational restrictions may impede exact interpretation. Employee will be informed of variations attached to individual sites or assignments.
- 17.15.9. Unless otherwise specifically outlined in this agreement, where the position allows self-relief and there are facilities provided for use, they are exempt from the break relief requirements. It is also agreed that supervisory personnel shall be able to administer breaks.

### ARTICLE NO. 18 – PERMANENT PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

### 18.1. PERMANENT PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

- 18.1. Permanent part-time employees shall be offered, in seniority order, all available part-time work. Permanent part-time employees shall work no less than sixteen (16) scheduled hours per week, and no more than thirty (30) scheduled hours per week, except during periods of training.
- 18.2. Permanent part-time employees who report to work will be guaranteed a minimum of four (4) hours pay unless the employee volunteers to leave early.
- 18.3. A part-time shift can be established where there is not sufficient work to establish a full-time shift.
- 18.4. Unless otherwise specified, all Articles contained in this Agreement shall apply to permanent part-time employees.
- 18.5. Seniority (Classification) will be the deciding factor as to who gets priority on part-time shift schedules.
- 18.6. The Employer will offer the opportunity to Part-time employees to move to Full-time prior to offering work to new employees. Seniority (Classification) will be the deciding factor as to who would move to Part-time should positions be available. Should Part-time employees go to Full-time, they will maintain their classification seniority for a period of ninety (90) days. If after ninety (90) days, they remain as permanent Full-time, they will be placed on the Full-time seniority list as of the date of the transfer. Should they return to Part-time status at a later date, they will be placed at the bottom of the Part-time seniority list when an opening occurs in part-time.
- 18.7. Employees wishing to use this clause to return to part-time must notify the Employer and the Union in writing prior to the expiration of the ninety (90) day period. Employees changing classification between full-time and part-time will not be permitted to switch again for a period of six (6) months.
- 18.8. In the event of layoffs, Part-time employees will be laid off prior to Full-time employees and junior full-time employees may be reassigned any operationally required part time work seniority shall apply as described in Article No.1.9.

18.9. Layoff and recall shall be on a "last off, first called back" basis provided they are qualified.

### 18.10 TEMPORARY PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

- a) Temporary part-time employees are casual employees who have posted into a temporary part-time position.
- b) Temporary part-time employees will be governed by collective agreement language that governs part-time employees with the following exceptions:
  - (i) The Employer can end the contract of a temporary part-time employee in the same manner as set out in Article L6.2; and
  - (ii) Temporary part-time employees will be paid in accordance with the temporary part-time employee or temporary part time employee specialist wage grids as set out in Schedule "A".
- c) (i) The Parties agree that in year one of this agreement, the maximum amout of casual guards who can convert into temporary part-time employees are 10 casual guards and 5 specialists;
  - (ii) in year two of this agreement, the maximum amout of casual guards who can convert into temporary part-time employees are 20 casual guards and 10 specialists, inclusive of the casual employees who covered in year 1 as described in 18.10(c)(i);
  - (iii) in year three of this agreement, the maximum amout of casual guards who can convert into temporary part-time employees are 30 casual guards and 15 specialists, inclusive of the casual employees who covered in years 1 and 2 as described in 18.10(c) (i) and (ii).

### ARTICLE NO. 19 – ON-CALL CASUAL EMPLOYEES

- 19.1. An On-Call Casual employee will be offered work on an ad hoc basis, to cover the following:
  - Illness and injury
  - Periodic training requirements
  - Cover shifts not covered by Full-time or Permanent Part-time employees, or
  - Covering contingency staff requirements arising out of irregular operational situations.

- 19.2. On-call Casual employees will be held on a separate list.
- 19.3. There is a requirement that On-Call Casuals will be available for work on a regular basis.

Frequent unavailability for work will be grounds for review of the employee's work record. Part of such review will consist of a documented demonstration of the employee's availability to work. Frequent unavailability may result in discipline, up to and including termination.

- 19.4. Vacation pay will be given as per the Canada Labour Code.
- 19.5. The following clauses in the Collective Agreement do not apply to the On-Call Casual Employees:
  - Article No. 14 Vacations
     Article No. 16.1 Seniority
  - Article No. 22 Health and Welfare Plan
  - Article No. 23 RRSP

### ARTICLE NO. 20 - CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

- 20.1. All employees covered by this agreement are required to be licensed under the Private Security and Investigative Services Act, 2005. It is the sole responsibility of the employee to ensure that their license is current and valid at all times. The employee will ensure that the Employer is provided with a copy of their current and valid license.
- 20.2. In the event that an employee is unable to obtain or maintain a current and valid security guard license for any reason or fails to provide the Employer with a copy of current and valid security guard license, the Employee will be suspended without pay until such time that the employee is able to obtain and produce a current and valid security guard license. This period of suspension shall not exceed four (4) weeks. In the event that an employee is unable to obtain and produce a current and valid security guard license for a period of four (4) weeks, seniority will cease and employment shall be terminated.
- 20.3. The Employer agrees to reimburse fifty percent (50%) per individual for the cost of security guard licenses required under the Private Security and

- Investigative Services Act, 2005 upon renewal for full-time and part-time employees on a bi-weekly basis.
- 20.4. All employees must be able to acquire, possess and maintain a valid Restricted Area Identification Card (RAIC) at all times while in the employ of the employer. If for any reason an employee does not, or is unable to possess a RAIC such as but not limited to loss, expiration, suspension or revocation, the employer shall not be held responsible for any loss of wages as a result. The employee will be responsible for any and all costs resulting from the replacement of a previously issued RAIC.
- 20.5. All employees must be able to acquire, possess and maintain a valid Access Control Certification (S Card) at all times while in the employ of the employer. If for any reason an employee does not, or is unable to maintain their certification, such as but not limited to loss of credentials, expiration, suspension or revocation, the employer shall not be held responsible for any loss of wages as a result.
- 20.6. In the event that an employee is unable to acquire, possess and maintain a RAIC or Access Control Certification, the Employee will be suspended without pay until such time that the employee is able to obtain the RAIC and/or Access Control Certification. In no case shall such suspension exceed forty-five (45) days, at which point seniority will cease and employment shall be terminated.
- 20.7. This article is subject to the grievance procedure but limited to those circumstances solely within the jurisdiction of the Employer. <u>Article No. 20.2</u> shall apply to any other identification access cards, key cards, keys or similar equipment issued to an employee by either the employer or respective authority.
- 20.8. It is understood that employees must maintain a clear criminal record and as such must report any criminal charge or conviction to the employer immediately. Upon request of the employer the employee shall be required to obtain a police background check, the cost of which will be reimbursed to the employee upon submission.
- 20.9. It is understood that where a position requires the use of a company vehicle, the employee must at all times be in possession of a valid Ontario class 'G' driver's license with no more than 3 demerit points or no more than 2 minor moving violations. Where this is not the case the employer may reassign the employee to another classification that does not require the use of a vehicle.

### ARTICLE NO. 21 – Doesn't Exist

### ARTICLE NO. 22 – HEALTH and WELFARE PLAN

- 22.1. The Employer shall continue the responsibility for the administration of Health & Welfare benefits for all non-probationary employees covered by this agreement.
- 22.2. For the purposes of benefits, Full Time employees shall be defined as anyone who has, over the previous six (6) pay periods, worked regularly, thirty-one (31) or more hours per week. Part Time employees shall be defined as anyone who has over the previous six (6) pay periods, worked regularly, sixteen (16) or more hours per week and less than thirty-one (31) hours per week.
- 22.3. Sick days shall be provided as follows:

The Employer shall credit each current full-time employee with three (3) sick days per annum. Payment of sick days shall be applied in the following manner:

One full day's pay for the sick day provided that the day is a regular working day. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to claim for accredited sick days on such forms as the Employer may prescribe and must be taken within the calendar year. Sick days shall not be carried over from one year to the next and are not paid out.

Any proven abuse of the sick day provision will subject the employee to immediate dismissal without recourse to the grievance procedure.

### **ARTICLE NO. 23 – RRSP CONTRIBUTIONS**

- 23.1. The Employer is to continue its contribution of twenty (\$0.20) cents per hour per employee payable into the employee's RRSPs.
- 23.2. It is the responsibility of each employee to provide the employer with the necessary bank information to allow the employer to make the contributions to individual employees.

23.3. New hires will provide the information within 30 days of being hired. Failure by new hires to provide the information in the time required will result in a loss of the payment until the information is provided, in which case, contribution will only commence at the time the information is provided.

# ARTICLE NO. 24 – WAGE RATES

24.1. Lester B. Pearson International Airport

August 16/16 - December 31/17 Year 1

OSR	\$13.25	\$14.00		\$14.00	\$14.00	\$14.00	\$14.00	\$14.00	\$14.00
Gates NPSv	\$11.40	\$13.50		\$13.50	\$13.50	\$13.50	\$13.50	\$13.50	\$13.50
Gate Gourmet Patrol	\$11.40			\$12.23	\$12.23	\$12.23	\$12.23	\$12.23	\$12.23
Gate Gourmet Gatehouse/ Reception	\$11.40			\$11.88	\$11.88	\$11.88	\$11.88	\$11.88	\$30.30 \$11.88
Canine	\$25.00		\$30.30	\$30.30	\$30.30	\$30.30	\$30.30	\$30.30	\$30.30
Temp PTE Specialist				\$18.50	\$18.50	\$18.50	\$18.50	\$18.50	\$18.50
Casual Specialist	\$20.00	\$20.20							
USCBP & ASES	\$20.00			\$20.20	\$20.20	\$20.20	\$20.20	\$20.20	\$20.20
Temp PTE				\$11.80	\$11.80	\$11.80	\$11.80	\$11.80	\$11.80 \$20.20
On-Call Casual	\$12.65								
Security Driver	\$11.40			\$13.15	\$13.47	\$13.84	\$14.17	\$14.38	\$15.15
Screening Services	\$12.70	\$13.09		\$13.36	\$13.64	\$13.90			
Door Patrol	\$11.40			\$14.00	\$14.00	\$15.00	\$15.00	\$15.00	\$15.50
Access Control (Ad- Hoc, Gates, Airlines)	\$11.40			\$12.09	\$12.43	\$12.80	\$13.13	\$13.56	\$14.24
Backflow	\$11.40			\$12.09	\$12.43	\$12.80	\$13.13	\$13.56	\$14.24
Terminal Access Control	\$11.40			\$12.09	\$12.43	\$12.80	\$13.13	\$13.56	\$14.24
	Start Rate	3 Months	6 Months	After 1 year	After 2 years	After 3 years	After 4 years	After 5 years	Top Rate

January 1/18 - December 31/18 Year 2

	Terminal Access Control	Backflow	Access Control (Ad- Hoc, Gates, Airlines)	Door Patrol	Screening Services	Security Driver	On-Call Casual	Temp PTE	USCBP & ASES	Casual Specialist	Temp PTE Specialist	Canine	Gate Gourmet Gatehouse/ Reception	Gate Gourmet Patrol	Gates NPSv	OSR
Start Rate	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40 \$12.70		\$11.40 \$12.78	\$12.78		\$20.00	\$20.00		\$25.00	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$13.25
3 Months					\$13.22					\$20.40					\$13.70	\$14.21
6 Months												\$30.60				
After 1 year	\$12.21	\$12.21	\$12.21	\$14.14	\$13.50	\$13.28		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70	\$14.21
After 2 years	\$12.56	\$12.56	\$12.56	\$14.14	\$13.77	\$13.61		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70	\$14.21
After 3 years	\$12.92	\$12.92	\$12.92	\$15.15	\$14.04	\$13.98		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70	\$14.21
After 4 years	\$13.26	\$13.26	\$13.26	\$15.15		\$14.31		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70	\$14.21
After 5 years	\$13.70	\$13.70	\$13.70	\$15.15		\$14.53		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70	\$14.21
Top Rate	\$14.38	\$14.38	\$14.38	\$15.66		\$15.30		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70	\$14.21

January 1/19 - December 31/19 Year 3

	Terminal Access Control	Backflow	Access Control (Ad- Hoc, Gates, Airlines)	Door Patrol	Screening Services	Security Driver	On-Call Casual	Temp PTE	USCBP & ASES	Casual Specialist	Temp PTE Specialist	Canine	Gate Gourmet Gatehouse/ Reception	Gate Gourmet Patrol	Gates NPSv	OSR
Start Rate	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$12.70	\$11.40	\$12.91		\$20.00	\$20.00		\$25.00	\$11.40 \$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$13.25
3 Months					\$13.35					\$20.60					\$13.91	\$14.42
6 Months												\$30.91				
After 1 year	\$12.33	\$12.33	\$12.33	\$14.28	\$13.64	\$13.41		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91	\$14.42
After 2 years	\$12.69	\$12.69	\$12.69	\$14.28	\$13.91	\$13.75		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12 \$12.47	\$12.47	\$13.91	\$14.42
After 3 years	\$13.05	\$13.05	\$13.05	\$15.30	\$14.18	\$14.12		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91	\$14.42
After 4 years	\$13.39	\$13.39	\$13.39	\$15.30		\$14.45		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91	\$14.42
After 5 years	\$13.84	\$13.84	\$13.84	\$15.30		\$14.68		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91	\$14.42
Top Rate	\$14.52	\$14.52	\$14.52	\$15.82		\$15.45		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91	\$14.42

24.2. The Employer shall pay one dollar (\$1.00) per hour in addition to the wages noted above where the use of a personal vehicle is required and authorized by the Employer for the performance of employment duties.

#### ARTICLE NO. 25 – SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT

- 25.1. If an employee is terminated, discharged, or resigns, they shall receive their final pay cheque including all monies owing to them, subject to <a href="https://example.com/Article No.8">Article No.8</a> by his/her next regular payday.
- 25.2. The Employer shall give a Record of Employment (ROE) Certificate to any employee who separates from employment of at least seven (7) days, for any reason, within seven (7) days of the last day worked or terminated.
- 25.3. Where an employee has failed to surrender all necessary documents, uniforms and material(s) issued to them by the Employer, in good condition notwithstanding normal wear and tear, the employer may require such employee to pay for any item(s) wilfully destroyed, mutilated or not returned, any such costs will be deducted from the employee's final pay.

#### ARTICLE NO. 26 – INSPECTION PRIVILEGES

26.1. Authorized agents of the Union shall, after requesting permission which shall not be unduly denied by the Employer, have access to the establishment(s) where employees of the Employer are employed, during working hours, and for the purpose of adjusting disputes, investigating working conditions, and ascertaining that the Agreement is being adhered to, provided however that there is no interruption of the working schedule.

# ARTICLE NO. 27 – TRAINING, RE-CERTIFICATION, EVALUATION, EXTRA SKILL, REQUIREMENTS

- 27.1. All initial training conducted by the Employer in the probation period shall be considered a prerequisite of employment and will not be paid.
- 27.2. When the Employer specifically requires non-probationary employees to take further training, the actual time spent taking such course shall be

- deemed to be work time, and shall be paid for as such, at the straight time rate of pay.
- 27.3. It is agreed that the scope and requirements of the workplace change from time to time. As such the employer may specifically require employees to take recurrence training or other training as a mandatory requirement of job continuance within their classification of work. The employee will be expected to successfully complete this training.
- 27.4. If an employee fails to successfully complete such training, they will be suspended without pay. Employees will be afforded the opportunity to retake the course on the next available scheduled training date. If an employee fails to successfully complete the course on the second attempt seniority will cease and employment shall be terminated. In no case shall such suspensions exceed thirty (30) days, at which point seniority will cease and employment shall be terminated.

#### ARTICLE NO. 28 – PARKING ALLOWANCE

- 28.1. The Employer shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of staff parking.
- 28.2. It is understood that the parking pass provided shall be used for the sole purpose of business related to the Employer.
- 28.3. The employee is responsible for payment of any costs resulting from loss or damage to the parking pass issued to the employee.

## **ARTICLE NO. 29 – SAVING CLAUSE**

29.1. If any Articles of this Agreement or of any supplement hereto should be held invalid by operation of law, or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with, or enforcement of, any Article should be restrained by such tribunal, pending a final determination as to its validity the remainder of this Agreement or of any supplement thereto, or the application of such Article to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it has been held invalid, or as to which compliance with or enforcement of has been restrained, shall not be affected thereby. In the event that any Article or Section is held invalid, or enforcement of or compliance with which has

been restrained as above set forth, the Parties affected thereby shall enter into immediate collective bargaining negotiations upon the request of the Union, for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such Article or Section during the period of invalidity or restraint. If the Parties do not agree on a mutually satisfactory replacement, they shall submit the dispute to the procedure as outlined in <a href="Article No. 12">Article No. 12</a> — Grievance Procedure, herein.

#### ARTICLE NO. 30 – COMPENSATION COVERAGE

30.1. The Employer shall provide coverage to all employees for injury on the job under the Workplace Safety Insurance Board in the Province of Ontario, or under an Insured Plan which provides coverage of compensation equal thereto.

#### **ARTICLE NO. 31 – STRIKES and PICKET LINES**

- 31.1. During the life of this agreement there shall be neither lockout by the Employer nor any strike, sit down, and slow down, work stoppage or suspension of work, either complete or partial, for any reason by the union.
- 31.2. For the purposes of this article an illegal strike includes any form of collective or concerted action, hampering the efficient operations of the business of the employer or service for its customers as defined by the Canada Labour Code.
- 31.3. In the event of a strike, by a Labour Group other than those covered by this Agreement, involving the Employer's property or operations, the employees will remain on the job in accordance with their obligations under the Canada Labour Code, unless to do so would endanger the life of the employee.

## **ARTICLE NO. 32 – UNION EDUCATION TRUST FUND**

32.1. The employer is to contribute \$1500.00 per year to the union education fund, payable May 1st each year of the collective agreement.

SIGNED THIS DAY O	PF 20
ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER A.S.P. Incorporated	CON BEHALF OF THE UNION: Unifor Local 2002
Dean Lovric	John O'Dell
James Catney	Theresa Amicarelli
Paul Parkinson	 Gurpreet Malhi

BETWEEN: A.S.P. INCORPORATE		S.P. INCORPORATEL	)	
AND:	Unifor Local 2002			
RE:	En	nployment Letters		
The Par	ties here	eto agree to the foll	owing:	
L1.1.	the em	ployee provided the	ovide letters of employment when e requests are made in writing at le or a valid and verifiable reason.	
SIGNED	THIS	DAY OF	20	
	HALF OF ncorpora	THE EMPLOYER: ted	ON BEHALF OF THE UNION: Unifor Local 2002	
Dean Lo	ovric		John O'Dell	
James Catney			Theresa Amicarelli	
 Paul Pa	 rkinson		Gurpreet Malhi	

BETWEEN: A.S.P. INCORPORATED

AND:	Unifor Local 2002		
RE:	Non-Conformance Reports (NCRs)		
The Par	ties hereto agree to the follo	owing:	
L2.1.	Non-Conformance Reports an occurrence report that instances where a product is fundamental to the ISO need to address in all areas for employees; they ofter Management or due to Ma	t is required to be go or service is found to system and necessary of the operation. Rep of are generated beca	generated for any and all be Non-Conforming. This y to identify the issues we orts are not just generated ause of failed systems in
L2.2.	<ol> <li>These reports are also fundamental to our process of continuous improvement. Only when we know in which areas we are failing, can we make positive changes to improve.</li> </ol>		
L2.3.	All information generated a to determine whether we		
SIGNED	THIS DAY OF		20
	HALF OF THE EMPLOYER: ncorporated	ON BEHALF OF THE Unifor Local 2002	EUNION:
Dean Lo	ovric	John O'Dell	
James (	Catney	Theresa Amicarelli	
Paul Pa	rkinson	Gurpreet Malhi	

BETWEEN: A.S.P. INCORPORATED

AND: Unifor Local 2002

RE: Shift Re-Alignment at Lester Pearson International Airport

The Parties hereto agree to the following:

- L3.1. Upon ratification of the contract the Employer will determine the appropriate manpower requirements based on customer requirements at the Toronto Pearson International Airport. The Employer will build a schedule that meets those requirements.
- L3.2. The new schedule will be posted seven (7) days prior to a shift bid that will occur by October 15th of each year, after which management will consult with the employees in order of classification seniority to allow them to pick their preferred shift. Once that shift is picked it is ineligible for others to pick, the next person in order of seniority will pick their preferred shift, etc. etc. Seniority by classification will prevail for the purpose of this selection.
- L3.3. Employees will have an opportunity for work selection within the classification, on basis and in order of classification seniority or start date seniority (whichever is greater). For the 2013 reclassification only, the statuses of employees will not affect the order (1. full-time, 2. part-time, 3. casual).
- L3.4. The shifts will be implemented on the second Sunday, but not less than fourteen (14) days following the end of the shift selections for each classification.
- L3.5. The Company will staff its operation with full time employees whenever possible as per <u>Article No.18</u>. It is recognized, however, that the use of part time employees may be required in certain situations. Therefore, the following will apply in the use and employment of all employees within the bargaining unit.

#### Work Schedules

- L3.6. The Company will build full time shift lines over thirty (30.25) to forty (40) hours per week.
- L3.7. Hours not deemed as part of the full time complement and any outstanding hours not allocated will be available to the part time employees per <u>Article</u>

No. 18 who will be scheduled between sixteen (16) and thirty (30) hours per week. Any remaining hours will be distributed to On-Call Casual employees as per Article No. 19.

- L3.8. Shift lines will be offered in order of seniority to all employees for bid in order of classification seniority. Shift lines not selected during the bid process will be assigned to the most junior employee(s) in reverse order of seniority.
- L3.9. A review of the shift schedules will take place on an annual basis. The Union will be advised of the establishment of any new schedules and the effects it may have on the bargaining unit employees.

SIGNED THIS DAY OF _	20
ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER: A.S.P. Incorporated	ON BEHALF OF THE UNION: Unifor Local 2002
Dean Lovric	John O'Dell
James Catney	Theresa Amicarelli
Paul Parkinson	Gurpreet Malhi

**BETWEEN: A.S.P. INCORPORATED** 

AND:	Unifor Local 2002		
RE:	LABOUR MANAGEMENT JOINT COMMITTEE		
Γhe Par	ties hereto agree to the follo	owing:	
_4.1	The Labour Management Joint Committee will consist of a minimum two (2) members appointed by the Employer and a minimum of two (members appointed by the Union.		
	the parties by examining p or part of the employees v recommendations and disc	ittee shall be to develop good relation of common interest which who are members of the bargaining cuss and suggest alternate shift school committee shall meet me	h concern al ng unit, make nedules.
	required.		•
SIGNED	THIS DAY OF	20	
	HALF OF THE EMPLOYER: acorporated	ON BEHALF OF THE UNION: Unifor Local 2002	
Dean Lo	ovric	John O'Dell	
ames (	Catney	Theresa Amicarelli	
Paul Pa	rkinson	Gurpreet Malhi	

**BETWEEN: A.S.P. INCORPORATED** 

AND: Unifor Local 2002

RE: ADVANCED ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR) PROCESS

The Parties hereto agree to the following:

L5.1. The Parties agree to use the ADR process outlined in this Letter of Understanding for one (1) year from the date of ratification. At the end of that one year period, this letter will expire and the process will no longer be used unless, with both Parties written agreement, the Letter of Understanding is extended.

The parties will continue to strive to have grievances resolved at the lowest possible step in the grievance process.

#### **ADR Processes**

- L5.2. The intent of the ADR processes is to provide a neutral third party who will attempt to resolve the grievance in a timely manner, normally at a preset quarterly review. As set out below, grievances which are selected for ADR may be submitted for Mediation or may be submitted to a binding Med/Arb pursuant to section 50 of the Labour Relations Act.
- L5.3. The parties will agree to a Chief Mediator / Arbitrator who will be asked to act or appoint another person to act if he or she is unable to do so. The parties shall equally share in the fees of the Mediator / Arbitrator.
- L5.4. All Med/Arb sessions will be attended by a maximum of four (4) representatives from each Party unless notified with reasons for a greater number no less than 10 days in advance. The persons attending should be familiar with the content of the grievance and have the authority to enact a resolution.
- L5.5. The Parties and / or the Mediator/Arbitrator will create a timetable for the provision of written briefs, witness statements and documentary production. These shall be provided to the Mediator/Arbitrator and the other Party no less than ten (10) days in advance of the scheduled hearing date.
- L5.6. It is agreed that no more than three (3) grievances will proceed or be submitted for mediation / arbitration at a single session.

L5.7. The session will normally be conducted at the workplace. This will be altered at the consent of both parties. Should the ADR process occur during an employee's scheduled hours of work they will be paid their normal rate of pay

## Mediation / Arbitration (Med/Arb)

- L5.8. Grievances to be referred to Med/Arb will be discussed by the parties before an application is made and only when the Parties both agree that the grievance is appropriately addressed by Med/Arb process. The Parties may agree that a grievance is referred only for Mediation (see below) or may agree to a Med/Arb with a binding decision.
- L5.9. It is understood that all Med/Arb decisions are without prejudice or precedent and may not be relied upon save as resolution of the grievance at issue. The issue of a termination will not be the subject of Med/Arb.

## Mediation

SIGNED THIS

- L5.10. Any concessions, discussions or offers to settle the grievance, which occur during a mediation process, are made in confidence and will not prejudice either party at arbitration should the matter not be resolved.
- L5.11. Notwithstanding the forgoing, any grievances submitted to mediation that remain unresolved in the process or at the request of either party may be advanced to the normal arbitration process in accordance with <a href="https://example.com/Article No.12">Article No.12</a>.

20

5.6.(25 11.16 5,(1 6.1	
ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER: A.S.P. Incorporated	ON BEHALF OF THE UNION: Unifor Local 2002
Dean Lovric	John O'Dell
James Catney	Theresa Amicarelli
Paul Parkinson	Gurpreet Malhi

DAY OF

**BETWEEN: A.S.P. INCORPORATED** 

AND: Unifor Local 2002

RE: CASUAL / ON CALL EMPLOYEES – ARTICLE 19

WHEREAS the Union and the Employer met to discuss the use of Casual / On Call employees under <u>Article 19</u>;

AND WHEREAS the Employer indicated an intention to provide extended periods of regular work by persons in this position in accordance with the provisions of 19.1 and had no certainty warranting the permanent positions of a regular employee;

AND WHEREAS the Union raised issues respecting the equity of extended work where no benefits, pension or other permanent benefits are accorded these persons;

#### THE PARTIES THEREFORE AGREED:

- L6.1. On Call Casual employees under <u>Article 19</u> of the Collective Agreement will have their terms and conditions of employment governed pursuant to this Letter of Understanding and their contract of employment and the provisions of the Collective Agreement will only apply where expressly indicated in this Letter.
- L6.2. A Casual employee will work on a defined term or task contract. There is no guarantee of hours to be worked. Such contracts may end at any time upon provision of one (1) week of notice or pay in lieu of notice, which week shall be based on average earnings for the previous seven weeks.
- L6.3. Casual employment contracts will provide for the payment of vacation pay as set out in 19.4. Casual employees will be provided with two weeks of unpaid leave per year.
- L6.4. Casual employees will be paid the hourly wage rate per the casual class.
- L6.5. In lieu of benefits, pension and in recognition of the irregular schedule and work opportunity, the Employer and the Union agree that until the stated expiry date in the current collective agreement, Casual employees will be provided with an additional payment of \$1.25 per hour. This payment shall not be factored into vacation pay, overtime pay nor shall it pyramid any similar claim. Deleted. Amount rolled into wage grid.

- L6.6. Casual employment contracts will be ended prior to any layoff of Permanent employees.
- L6.7. Given the variable work time and experience of Casual employees, a Casual employee who posts for and is hired into a part-time or full-time position will serve a probationary period.
- L6.8. Casual employees will be covered by <a href="Article 1">Article 1</a> (Bargaining Agency and Definition), <a href="Article 2">Article 2</a> (Duration of Agreement), <a href="Article 3">Article 3</a> (Union Security), <a href="Article 4">Article 4</a> (Deduction of Dues), <a href="Article 5">Article 5</a> (Management Rights), <a href="Article 6">Article 6</a> (Leaves) save and except all leaves will be unpaid, <a href="Article 9">Article 9</a> (Health and Safety), <a href="Article 12.1">Article 12.1</a> and <a href="12.2">12.2</a> (Grievance Procedure), <a href="Article 19">Article 19</a> (Casual On Call). The Grievance and Arbitration provisions of the Agreement apply to Casual employees as if they were probationary employees under the Agreement. Furthermore, Casual employees are covered by any other rights which they are granted, pursuant to applicable legislation.
- L6.9. Any casual employee who has been placed or continuously worked a continuous shift for a period of six (6) consecutive months or longer in a permanent post will be offered a permanent position (either full-time or part-time at the employer's discretion) within the organization. The Parties agree that such an offer does not have to be posted in accordance with <a href="Article 16">Article 16</a> (Job Posting).

**BETWEEN: A.S.P. INCORPORATED** 

AND: Unifor Local 2002

RE: OSR TERMS & CONDITIONS

WHEREAS the OSR classification did not exist prior to this round of collective bargaining;

AND WHEREAS the Parties desire a mutual understanding of the terms and conditions of the collective agreement which apply to employees within the OSR classification;

The Parties agree as follows:

All of the terms and conditions of the collective agreement apply to the OSR classification with the exception of the following modifications:

1. <u>Article 8.1 (uniforms)</u> does not apply and is replaced with:

OSR employees will be supplied with the following uniform components:

Uniform Component	Ladies Full-Time	Ladies Part-Time
Jacket	1	1
Waistcoat	1	1
Blouse	3	2
Skirt	1	1
Trouser	2	1
Scarf	1	1

Uniform Component	Mens Full-Time	Mens Part-Time
Jacket	1	1
Waistcoat	1	1
Shirt	3	2
Trouser	3	2
Tie	2	2

2. <u>Article 8.3</u> will require OSRs to wear black CSA approved footwear in areas or posts designated by the Employer.

- 3. Articles 20.1 20.3, and 20.5 do not apply.
- 4. <u>Article 20.6</u> amended to only include RAIC and not Access Control Certification requirement.
- 5. Refresher training for existing employees (For OSR only).

Each OSR employee shall complete A.S.P.'s customer service training program annually. If for any reason an employee does not, or is unable to successful complete the customer service training by his or her anniversary date, the employee shall be placed on a without pay leave, and the employer shall not be held responsible for any loss of wages or benefits as a result. Any OSR employee who does not successfully complete the training within 3 months past their anniversary date will have his or her seniority cease and employment shall be terminated.

The Wage Grid is as follows;

OSR	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3
Start Rate	\$13.25	\$13.25	\$13.25
After 3 Months	\$14.00	\$14.21	\$14.42

LOU 3 – Shift bid will occur annually on February 1 of each calendar year.

LOU 3 – First shift bid will take place on January 30, 2017

LOU 3.7 – replace with: LOU 3.7 (i)

Hours not deemed as part of the full time complement and any outstanding hours not allocated will be available to the part time employees per <u>Article No. 18</u> who will be scheduled between sixteen (16) and thirty (30) hours per week. Any remaining hours will be distributed to On-Call Casual employees as per <u>Article No. 19</u>, <u>if On-Call Casual employees exist within the OSR classification.</u>

### Add LOU 3.7(ii)

Where additional shifts become available, such shifts will be offered in seniority order (full time, part-time, on-casual), to employees who have signed up via the company portal. Shifts will be awarded in seniority order and by the total number of hours worked in that quarter in order to avoid triggering an overtime situation as a result of accepting the shift.

SIGNED THIS DAY O	PF 20
ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER A.S.P. Incorporated	CON BEHALF OF THE UNION: Unifor Local 2002
Dean Lovric	John O'Dell
James Catney	Theresa Amicarelli
Paul Parkinson	 Gurpreet Malhi

## In the Matter of an Interest Arbitration

#### **Between**

## **CAW-Canada, Local 2002**

## And

## A.S.P. Incorporated

Before: M. Brian Keller, Arbitrator

Joel Fournier and Ashley Watkins for the union

David Ross for the employer

Hearing in Toronto April 7, 2013

## **AWARD**

The employer is contracted, through a bidding process, to provide a variety of security services under various contracts to the Greater Toronto Airports Authority. There are approximately 250 employees who are represented by the CAW. The contracts were awarded in 2010 and are now being re-tendered for a further three year period.

The security services provided by the employees include the control of restricted areas, by means of a variety of methods.

The CAW represents the employees as a result of a successful displacement application in December 2010. At the time, the employer had contracts at both Pearson and Billy Bishop airports. It subsequently lost the work at Billy Bishop and the current collective agreement applies only to employees at Pearson airport.

The award incorporates all matters agreed to by the parties to the date of this award. The provisions of the expired collective agreement remain in effect unless otherwise awarded, The provisions of the agreement awarded go into effect April 10, 2013 unless stated otherwise or unless not practicable.

Before dealing with the individual issues in dispute, general comment must be made about the financial circumstances of the employer as the items remaining in dispute all have monetary implications. I will not enter into a detailed rationale for my conclusions given the sensitivity of that information, particularly while the

employer is formulating its bid in an effort to retain its contracts. Suffice it to say that I accept, based on the employer's financial disclosure that it has, for various reasons, operated at a loss the last two years. Given the nature of the tendering process, its future financial situation is, of course, unknown.

## **PENSIONS**

The collective agreement with the predecessor bargaining agent required the employer to make a pension contribution of 20 cents per hour per employee. The accumulated money is still in the possession of the employer. On an on-going basis, the employer is to continue its contribution of 20 cents per hour per employee but payable in to employees RRSPs. It the responsibility of each employee to provide the employer with the necessary bank information to allow the employer to make the contributions to individual employees. Until an employee provides the information, the money will be held by the employer. Current employees have 60 days to provide the required information to the employer. New hires will provide the information within 30 days of being hired. Failure by new hires to provide the information in the time required will result in a loss of the payment until the information is provided, in which case, contribution will only commence at the time the information is provided.

Pension money accumulated to this point is to be distributed to the RRSPs of employees in the manner to be determined by the union. The union is to inform the employer within 60 days of this award how the money is to be distributed. The money is to be paid by the employer to individual recepients within 30 days from the date it is advised by the union how the money is to be distributed. Employees are, of course, free to use the payments lawfully, as they see fit.

#### UNION EDUCATION FUND

The employer is to contribute \$1500 per year to the union education fund, payable May 1 each year of the collective agreement.

## **SICK DAYS**

This is a significant cost item, each sick day representing approximately \$40,000 in employee replacement and overtime cost to the employer. One additional sick day is awarded effective January 1, 2015.

#### **TERM**

The collective agreement will expire August 15, 2016, to coincide with the length of the contract to be awarded by the GTAA.

## **BONUS**

In the event the employer is awarded the contract(s) by the GTAA, each employee who is employed on August 16, 2013, will be paid \$150, less those deductions required by law, the money to be paid by September 15, 2013.

## **WAGES**

I have carefully considered the submissions of the parties and have applied the normal criteria during my deliberations. In particular, I have considered the financial situation of the employer, the nature of the work performed by the members of the bargaining unit as well as their current terms and conditions of employment. In my deliberations I have applied the principles of comparability and replication.

By replication, I mean I have attempted to come up with a result that the parties themselves might have achieved had they the same financial information I have and had they used the same considerations taking into account all relevant factors.

I have carefully examined the comparators offered by each party. While I find them somewhat helpful, I do not find any of them particularly dispositive. The union comparator in Vancouver has to be considered in light of a very different geographical region and somewhat different labour considerations. The comparison with the casinos is flawed based on the different nature of the work. The comparison with Garda is flawed based on the very significant difference in the nature of the work.

The employer comparators are equally flawed based on the differences of the work performed and the difference of the consequences of the work.

In addition to the above, I have also considered the fact that only one employee in the last year has not received an increase in remuneration based on grid movement. The increase for each employee has been in the order of three percent.

Finally, I have considered the consequences of awarding a wage increase that could affect the viability of the employer as a going concern. This could result in job losses, potentially significant in number, as well as a situation where the employees could find themselves unrepresented by any trade union with all the negative implications that flow from that.

Based on all the above, I award a 1.25 per cent across the board wage increase effective and retroactive to April 10, 2013. In addition, there will be two further across the board wage increases effective August 16, 2014 and 2015. The cost of living increase will be the increase in the cost of living (Toronto, all items), year over year, July to July.

It is to be noted that the employer was required to increase the start rate as a result of the increase to the minimum wage. The result was that the start rate and the three month rate became the same. Consequently, there is no need to maintain the three month rate. That is, employees starting work, or having less than three months of service, will have the same wage rate as three month employees.

## **SENIORITY**

Classification seniority will govern for bids. Over-all date of hire will govern in the case of a lay-off, meaning last-in, first-out. In the case of recall, it will be last-out, first-in.

Before any part-time or full-time employees are laid off, the employer will cease using casual employees. Except in the case of G4S employees, referred to below, overall seniority will govern except as provided above.

## **LETTERS OF UNDERSTANDING**

Letters of Understandings are renewed with the exception of the LOU dealing with Billy Bishop employees, which is deleted.

The 2008 LOU dealing with G4S employees is spent and not renewed.

## **FORMER G4S EMPLOYEES**

Former G4S employees hired after January 27, 2008 until February 14, 2008, will maintain their vacation entitlement based on their total seniority even if they move to another classification. If they change classification, they will, for all other purpose, go to the bottom of the seniority list for their new classification.

## **ARTICLE 20.9**

The employer's proposal regarding 25 years of age is not awarded.

## **OTHER**

In addition to the above specifically enumerated changes, there are other provisions awarded. They are contained at Schedule "A"

The parties are to meet within two weeks to complete the collective agreement.

I remain seized to deal with any issue arising from the interpretation, application, administration or implementation of any aspect of this award.

Ottawa, this this day 11th of June, 2013

M. Brian Keller, Arbitrator

#### IN THE MATTER OF AN INTEREST ARBITRATION

### **BETWEEN**

# A.S.P. INCORPORATED (hereinafter the "Employer")

#### **AND**

# UNIFOR LOCAL 2002 (hereinafter the "Union")

**ARBITRATOR:** Tom Hodges

FOR THE EMPLOYER: M. David Ross, Counsel

Dean Lovric, President and CEO, ASP Inc.

**FOR THE UNION:** John O'Dell, National Representative

Katha Fortier, Assistant to the National President Theresa Amicarelli, Assistant to the Local President

Lucy Alessio, Assistant to the Local President

Gurpreet Mahli, Acting Unit Chair

Ziriani Haxhiaj, Bargaining Committee Member Mustafa Brati, Bargaining Committee Member Ahmed Sadik Isse, Bargaining Committee Member

**HEARING:** May 5, 2017

**AWARD:** May 18, 2017

## **AWARD**

#### **JURISDICTION**

The parties were twice unsuccessful, over a recent three month period, in concluding a renewal collective agreement through open collective bargaining. The parties jointly agreed to resolve the dispute through interest arbitration pursuant to Section 79 of the *Canada Labour Code*, *Part I* which provides:

79.(1) Despite any other provision of this Part, an employer and a bargaining agent may agree in writing, as part of a collective agreement

or otherwise, to refer any matter respecting the renewal or revision of a collective agreement or the entering into of a new collective agreement to a person or body for final and binding determination.

#### **BACKGROUND**

A.S.P. Incorporated provides security services for various employers in the Greater Toronto Area, including the Greater Toronto Airport Authority (GTAA). This interest arbitration pertains to the bargaining unit employees who perform such work at Pearson Airport in Toronto.

The Employer has a 5-year contract to perform this work, having been the successful competitive bidder emanating from the most recent RFP (Request for Proposal) process conducted by the GTAA.

This bargaining unit of approximately 300 employees was originally certified by the Teamsters, Local 847 on November 20, 2006. The Employer and the Teamsters successfully negotiated a first and first renewal collective agreement. The latter had an expiry date of December 31, 2013.

The most recent collective agreement between the parties was awarded through interest arbitration chaired by Arbitrator Keller. Its term expired on August 15, 2016.

The parties successfully bargained at length during 2016 and concluded a tentative agreement on December 16. Unfortunately, it was rejected by an 82% margin. However, the parties returned to the bargaining table and reached a subsequent understanding. A further ratification vote was held on February 17, 2017. Regrettably, the membership once again voted down the agreement, but by the slimmest of margins, 51%.

The only item outstanding at this point, for this interest arbitrator to address, is the issue of \$15.00 per hour top wage rate for the "TAC" classification within the bargaining unit. The Employer steadfastly refused to entertain the demand, while the Union contended that it was the missing ingredient in the parties' most recent Memorandum of Settlement that would have otherwise ensured a positive result from the narrowly contested ratification vote.

#### **UNION POSITION**

The Union requested that all matters, with the exception of a wage adjustment for the Terminal Access Control, Backflow, Access Control (TAC) classification, be accepted as agreed upon in the Memorandum of Settlement that was rejected on February 17, 2017.

The Union also asked that the interest arbitrator remain seized to adjudicate any matters that might arise from the implementation of this instant award, prior to the conclusion of the renewal collective agreement by the parties.

The Union revisited the established consensus from interest arbitrators that the primary objective of interest arbitration was to replicate, as closely as possible, the result that might have occurred through collective bargaining, had the parties been free to enact the ultimate industrial sanction of either strike or lockout. That process, the Union urged, relied on the consideration of objective factors only, and not ad hoc or subjective speculation about what the outcome of bargaining might have entailed. Therefore, the Union continued, while the role of the interest arbitrator was to ultimately establish the terms of a renewed collective agreement, it nevertheless remained a pursuit that must be adjudicative in principle.

In *Re Building Service Employees, Local 204 and Welland County General Hospital* (1965) 16 L.A.C. 1, Professor Arthurs considered the subject, and explained that the process of interest arbitration should address "adjudication" and not "adjustment." Such an objective approach would, it was reasoned, measure the aspirations of the parties with regard to wages and working conditions based on relevant comparisons, and not abstract notions of social justice or fairness:

A central issue which we faced at the outset was whether this board was to adjust or to adjudicate the differences between the parties. If we were to attempt adjustment, we would seek to reach a result agreeable to both parties. This we might do by proposing a series of compromises to them directly, or by their "proxies", the two board members nominated by them. By a process of negotiation within the board or between the board and the parties, we would reach an acceptable mid-point. Failing of success, the board would compel "consensus" on the basis of a reasonable compromise between the negotiating positions of the two parties. Adjudication is a different kind of process. Here, the board applies evidence to predetermined and rational standards, as does a Court of law or a board of arbitration in a grievance dispute. The negotiating positions of the parties, and the acceptability of the award to them, is at best a marginal factor in the award. Rather, the board attempts to be "objective" in measuring the entitlement of the parties to wages and working conditions.

Of course, it would be naïve to assert that our deliberations were pure adjudication, wholly divorced from considerations of adjustment. Obviously, the hospital's offer and the union's demand established, respectively, lower and upper limits within which our award was bound to fall. Most importantly, although the absence of truly objective criteria and the nature of the "evidence" before us made adjudication a highly creative

task, we were constantly aware of the need to produce a result consistent with the labour relations realities of the situation. With these reservations, however, we did attempt to adjudicate the dispute – to decide it by applying the evidence before us to rational and objective criteria.

The union in this respect submitted that its wage adjustment proposal for the top rate of pay for TAC employees was comparable with security personnel working for Securiguard at Vancouver International Airport. The Union argued that wages for workers performing similar tasks and responsibilities at the Vancouver Airport were substantially higher than those of ASP employees at Pearson.

It was asserted that, with the exception of training (new hires), the top rate for every classification at Vancouver Airport far exceeded the \$15 per hour threshold. The lowest top rate in effect from April 1, 2016 – March 31, 2017 was \$17.43, or \$3.19 (22%) higher than the top rate for the classification in question in this current interest arbitration.

The union further submitted that current wage rates for the TAC classification were far below the living wage calculations for much of the Greater Toronto and Hamilton Areas.

The Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives defines the living wage as the income a full-time worker must earn in order to meet basic needs, pay for work related expenses such as commute and clothing, and have some money left over for one's family expenses and broader community activities.

The Union contended that living wage calculations across the GTA have far exceeded the minimum wage set in every province and territory, and that even full-time low-wage workers do not earn enough money to adequately make ends meet. In that regard the Union provided the following comparison:

**Table 2: Top Rate and Local Living Wage Comparison** 

Terminal Access Control, Backflow, Access Control Top Rate	Region	Living Wage	% of living wage	Gap between Living Wage and Top Rate
\$14.42	Hamilton	\$15.85	91%	9%
	Toronto	\$18.52	78%	22%
	Durham	\$17.00	85%	15%
	Guelph	\$16.50	87%	13%

Source: Ontario Living Wage Network, Living Wage by Region, www.ontariolivingwage.ca

The Union then cited the perceived Employer response that ever increasing wages were a major detriment to profitability. However, recent research from economists and management experts alike, the Union alleged, highlighted a positive correlation between higher wages and improved training opportunities with increased productivity and ability to focus on the job. For example, the Union continued, in her book *The Good Jobs Strategy*, Zeynep Ton found that employees with low earnings and insufficient training can have a negative effect on an employer's operational goals, and indeed drag down productivity and profit. While her research focussed on the retail sector, the Union believed that it provided important insight for all employers, including those in aviation safety and security.

The request for \$15 an hour for the top rate TAC employee, the Union contended, would not elevate those workers even close to a full-living wage. However, it would begin to decrease the wage gap that they experience, as they attempt to make ends meet.

Additionally, the Union submitted that the public safety and security of the aviation industry, while a fundamental goal of Security Services for all concerned, was effectively being undermined by low-wage employees at Pearson Airport, including TAC workers, who are increasingly dealing with challenges of the most precarious nature. The Union voiced the overarching concern that such under compensated employment generally exerted a downward influence on service quality, one that could potentially lead to security and safety breaches.

The Union submitted that an increase to \$15 per hour for the top wage rate of TAC employees would improve worker well-being, have the simultaneous effect of improving job performance, and by extension increase public safety and aviation security at Pearson Airport. The Union requested that the interest arbitrator so award.

### **EMPLOYER POSITION**

The Employer maintained that it faced a unique challenge in that it could only perform work at the GTAA if it was the successful bidder on an RFP, providing the best service possible at the most affordable cost. As a result, if costs could not be adequately controlled, the next contract would simply be awarded to another company, through the inevitable tendering process. The very same challenges that currently govern would once again become the subject of collective bargaining.

The Employer acknowledged that \$15 minimum wage rate arguments, similar to the Union's top rate demand for "TAC" employees, had received traction in the current media debate on the issue, and had also been paid lip service by proposed Ontario provincial government policy. The Employer however considered it an untenable

breakthrough impulse that, simply put, was not reflective of the principles of replication, an accepted cornerstone of interest arbitration.

Therefore, the Employer requested that the interest arbitrator award the terms of the most recent un-ratified Memorandum of Settlement, as the best and uncompromising evidence of what the parties would have concluded during free collective bargaining. This would be in line with, the Employer argued, unequivocal jurisprudence in that regard, unless of course the presence of exceptional circumstances could be detected and determined. The Employer asserted that no such condition prevailed in the instant case.

The Employer further maintained that an un-ratified Memorandum of Settlement was not only admissible as evidence in an interest arbitration proceeding, but was indeed the best indication of the outcome that would have been secured by the parties through free collective bargaining.

The Employer also reminded that the party that sought to resist imposition of the terms of an agreed upon settlement bore a heavy onus of persuasion, and that interest arbitrators have only departed from such terms in situations where a bargaining committee may have been "misguided", or where intervening events have substantially altered conditions.

The Employer relied on *Mount Sinai Hospital and Building Services Union* (September 25, 1969), unreported, Arbitrator Weiler found as follows:

The fact that negotiators on behalf of the parties have, in good faith, reached agreement, furnishes a strong prima facie basis for the validity of the terms of settlement. If they reasonably direct their minds to the relevant issues and principles, negotiators must be supported in arbitration, in order that the system of free collective bargaining be maintained.

Such a prima facie case is not absolutely binding though. Because negotiators are, after all, only the agents of the Parties, not the principals to the dispute, they may agree on a clearly erroneous or irrational basis. [...] However, a very substantial onus rests on the principal which has repudiated the memorandum of agreement to demonstrate why it should not be followed.

Further, in *Thames Emergency Medical Services Inc. v. OPSEU* (2004), 129 L.A.C. (4th) 192 Arbitrator Burkett noted:

Having regard to all of the foregoing, it is my ruling that the rejected memorandum of settlement is admissible. This is not to say that the

rejected memorandum of settlement is determinative. Rather, it is evidence of the prior good faith bargaining and it is evidence of what the respective bargaining committees considered to be a full, final and fair resolution in all the circumstances. It follows that there is an onus upon a party seeking to depart from the memorandum to justify within the context of a post-rejection interest arbitration the departure that it seeks, just as it would have to do under free collective bargaining.

And in the very recent Windsor Regional Hospital and The Professional Institute of the Public Service of Canada, October 19, 2016 (Raymond), it was concluded that:

The fact that negotiators on behalf of the parties have in good faith, reached an agreement, furnishes a strong prima facie case for the validity of the terms of settlement. If they reasonable direct their minds to the relevant issues and principles, negotiators must be supported in arbitration, in order that the system of free collective bargaining be maintained.

The Employer believed the law to be clear in support of the conviction that what is negotiated between the parties must be respected in order to sustain the integrity of free collective bargaining. Were it not so, one party would be able to deploy the tactic whereby the other party was induced to fully show its hand and make all of the necessary concessions to arrive at a recommended settlement, only to have it voted down by the membership, and then return to the bargaining table with additional demands.

Therefore, the Employer argued, in applying the replication principle to cases where both parties' negotiating committees reached a memorandum of settlement which was jointly recommended for ratification, but not ratified, that agreement remained the best evidence of the outcome the parties would have attained had negotiations been permitted to continue and conclude.

In continued support for the established reasoning of Arbitrator Weiler, Michel Picher provided further in Salvation Army Windsor Community and Rehabilitation Centre and Recycling Unit and Service Employees International Union Local 2, (2009) that:

A review of the Canadian jurisprudence reflects that it is extremely rare for boards of interest arbitration to depart from the terms of a tentative memorandum of agreement which has not been ratified by the rank and file employees. The obvious reasoning of this line of cases is that if a board of arbitration is to engage in the analytic process of replication, to determine what parties would have agreed to if they had reached a collective agreement through free collective bargaining, the evidence

of a tentative agreement reached between two bargaining committees selected by them to negotiate their terms and conditions of employment is, absent extraordinary evidence, in all likelihood the best indication of what they would have agreed to. While the fact that employees within the bargaining unit may have voiced some discontent with that agreement, to the point of non-ratification, is obviously admissible in evidence, that is not an uncommon phenomena even the areas of agreements which are not made by interest arbitration. That element alone cannot of itself be seen as sufficient to necessarily displace the presumptive persuasiveness of the terms of settlement reached.

The Employer further asserted that subsequent negotiation following a rejected memorandum of settlement does not void the reasonableness of the original accord. Rather, these efforts remained indicative of good faith bargaining between the parties, and that even if they did not result in the conclusion of a new memorandum of settlement, did not alter the influence that should be afforded the rejected memorandum of settlement.

In *Thames Emergency Medical Services, supra* the Employer noted that Arbitrator Burkett considered the effect of the parties seeking to "tweak" an agreement following a rejected memorandum of settlement and found that agreement remained admissible as to the parties' best efforts to reach an agreement:

... The principal must be presumed to understand that a position once tabled by its bargaining committee and responded to becomes interwoven into the fabric of the bargaining. It is not surprising, therefore, that the rejection of a memorandum of settlement under free collective bargaining is not viewed as a signal to recommence bargaining afresh. Rather, the bargaining that follows a rejection of a memorandum of settlement is in the nature of a problem-solving exercise designed to "tweak" the terms of settlement in a manner that preserves the essential bargain while at the same time facilitating a reconsideration by the principals. Indeed, a party that sought to commence bargaining afresh following the rejection of a memorandum of settlement would leave itself open to a bad faith bargaining complaint. Conversely, a party that had put its best position forward in order to achieve a tentative settlement, only to have that settlement rejected by the other side, would, absent more, be immune from a finding of bad faith if it adopted the terms of the rejected memorandum as its firm and final position. The reality is that in free collective bargaining, the rejected memorandum remains front and centre. Although it does not constitute a legally binding document, the memorandum establishes the parameters for the bargaining that follows the rejection, notwithstanding the fact that it was entered into by the bargaining committees acting as agents for the principals. ...

Thus, the Employer argued, for an interest arbitrator to consider modification of the terms of a previously mutually-acceptable but un-ratified memorandum of settlement, the party arguing for such an approach must conclusively demonstrate that the parties entered into that agreement on an erroneous or irrational basis.

The Employer proffered that there was no evidence that the Union had been misguided in any manner, and that there had been no change in circumstances sufficiently significant to warrant any departure from the terms of the Memorandum of Settlement. Indeed, the fact that that second ratification vote failed by the narrowest of margins supported the Employer argument that this interest arbitrator should follow and apply the well established reasoning as set out in the case law above. As a result, the Employer requested that the interest arbitrator award the terms of the most recent un-ratified Memorandum of Settlement as the new collective agreement between the parties.

#### **DECISION**

As indicated above, interest arbitrators have maintained that if a party to the collective agreement repudiates a negotiated memorandum of settlement and then seeks to make additional gains at interest arbitration, that party faces a substantial onus of persuasion with respect to the merits of its contention.

It is also generally accepted as consensus among interest arbitrators that their primary objective is to replicate, to the degree possible, the results that would have manifested from the domain of free collective bargaining, where the parties could eventually apply the ultimate sanctions of strike or lockout. The mandate of this interest arbitrator was therefore to attempt to best replicate what the outcome would have been if the parties to this dispute had been reasonably and collectively left to their own device.

As the Honourable Warren Winkler, in *University of Toronto (Governing Council)* and *University of Toronto Faculty Association* (2006), 148 L.A.C. (4th) 193, noted:

The replication principle requires the [arbitration] panel to fashion an adjudicative replication of the bargain that the parties would have struck had free collective bargaining continued. The positions of the parties are relevant to frame the issues and to provide the bargaining matrix. However, it must be remembered that it is the parties' refusal to yield from their respective positions that necessitates third party intervention. Accordingly, the panel must resort to objective criteria, in preference to the subjective

self-imposed limitations of the parties, in formulating an award. In other words, to adjudicatively replicate a likely "bargained" result, the panel must have regard to the market forces and economic realities that would have ultimately driven the parties to a bargain.

As well, interest arbitrators have historically been reluctant to amend a tentative settlement between the parties to a collective agreement. As noted earlier in *Salvation Army, supra*:

A review of the Canadian jurisprudence reflects that it is extremely rare for boards of interest arbitration to depart from the terms of a tentative memorandum of agreement which has not been ratified by the rank and file employees. The obvious reasoning of this line of cases is that if a board of arbitration is to engage in the analytic process of replication, to determine what parties would have agreed to if they had reached a collective agreement through free collective bargaining, the evidence of a tentative agreement reached between two bargaining committees selected by them to negotiate their terms and conditions of employment is, absent extraordinary evidence, in all likelihood the best indication of what they would have agreed to. While the fact that employees within the bargaining unit may have voiced some discontent with that agreement, to the point of non-ratification, is obviously admissible in evidence, that is not an uncommon phenomena even the areas of agreements which are not made by interest arbitration. That element alone cannot of itself be seen as sufficient to necessarily displace the presumptive persuasiveness of the terms of settlement reached.

Furthermore, the respective submissions of the parties to this interest arbitration did not reveal evidence of any error, misguidance, irrationality, or bad faith within the process of their arriving at the most recent Memorandum of Settlement. The Union and Employer bargaining committee representatives are competent, experienced negotiators, and sophisticated in the ways and means of labour relations. As such, this interest arbitrator must be wary of altering a fairly and openly negotiated settlement, unless there is clear evidence of special circumstances in support of the inclination to otherwise do so, particularly given the narrow margin of defeat of the most recent ratification vote. No such circumstances were apparent in the instant case. Moreover, it cannot be considered within the purview of this interest arbitrator to contemplate the establishment of a top wage rate of \$15.00 per hour for the "TAC" classification, on a sympathetic or subjective basis, or in the spirit of perceived fairness.

Safety and security are of course always concerns of paramount importance, and the Union's arguments with respect to the level of wage rates and the quality of service within the security realm at Pearson Airport are grounded, and worthy of considered future discussion between the parties. But as it now stands, the interest arbitrator is bound, as deliberated above, by concerns of a strictly objective nature. And with that principle in mind, along with a view of all of the evidence submitted, it must be declared that the most appropriate resolution to this dispute is the award of the full terms of the most recently negotiated Memorandum of Settlement between the parties.

Having regard to the foregoing I therefore award that the collective agreement shall consist of the previous agreement as amended by the items agreed upon by the parties in February 7, 2017 Memorandum of Settlement

I will remain seized with respect to any disputes arising from the parties' future deliberations on this matter, as well as any dispute with respect to any aspect of the interpretation, enforcement or implementation of this decision.

Dated this 18th, day of May, 2017

Tom Hodges Arbitrator

## **MEMORANDUM OF SETTLEMENT**

## BETWEEN:

A.S.P. INCORPORATED (the "Employer")

- and -

# UNIFOR, LOCAL 2002 (the "Union")

**WHEREAS** the parties have been engaged in renewal contract negotiations and agree on a renewal collective agreement on the following basis:

- 1. The parties agree that the said collective agreement shall include terms of the previously agreed items, along with the following Appendix A amendments, are incorporated.
- 2. All proposals not included in the previously agreed items or Appendix A are deemed withdrawn.
- 3. Nothing in these proposals will be retroactive with the exception of wages.
- 4. Dated this 1st day of February 2017, Ontario

FOR THE EMPLOYER	FOR THE UNION
Down Larie  Thoroga an  Theresa Homica	W//
Park far ZIR JANA	Gunpreet Singh Malle
	AN MEDSADIR

## **APPENDIX "A"**

#### Add after 1.4

- 1.4 (a) 1.4. All work within the bargaining unit shall be performed only by those persons coming within the bargaining unit who are members of the Union or who are eligible to become members under Article No. 3 herein, except in the case of emergency circumstances such as short staffing, training, and to attain/maintain certification, or as otherwise prescribed herein.
- 1.4 (b) This agreement is made and entered into by and between ASP Incorporated, hereinafter referred to as the Employer and Unifor hereinafter referred to as the Union.
- 1.4 (c) The purpose of the Agreement is to define the relations between the Employer and the Union, the wages and working conditions of employees of the Employer represented by the Union, and means by which complaints, grievances and disputes shall be disposed of promptly and equitably.
- 1.4 (d) It is understood and agreed that all previous Agreements, whether oral or written, by and between the Employer and the Union are superseded by this Agreement.
- 1.4 (e) It is agreed by the parties that there will be no strikes or lockouts so long as this Agreement continues to be in effect pursuant to Article 2( duration and renewal).
- 2.1. This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from and including April 10 2013 up to and including August 15 2016 and shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter, subject to the right of either Party to this Agreement, within four (4) months immediately preceding the expiration date, or immediately preceding the anniversary date in any year thereafter, by written notice to the other Party, require the other Party to commence collective bargaining with a view to the conclusion of a renewal or revision of the Collective Agreement, or a new Collective Agreement.

#### Amend to:

2.1. This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from and including August 16, 2016 up to and including December 31, 2019 and shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter, subject to the right of either Party to this Agreement, within four (4) months immediately preceding the expiration date, or immediately preceding the anniversary date in any year

- thereafter, by written notice to the other Party, require the other Party to commence collective bargaining with a view to the conclusion of a renewal or revision of the Collective Agreement, or a new Collective Agreement.
- 6.1.1. The Employer shall allow time off work, without pay, to any employee who is serving as a Union delegate to any conference or function, provided all requests for time off are reasonable and do not interfere with the proper operation of the business. Any such requests must be made at least fourteen (14) days in advance. No employee who acts within the scope of this clause shall lose their job or be discriminated against for so acting.

#### Amend to:

- 6.1.1 The Employer shall allow time off work, without pay, to any employee who is serving as a Union delegate to any conference or function, provided all requests for time off are reasonable and do not interfere with the proper operation of the business. Any such requests must be made at least **seven** (7) days in advance. No employee who acts within the scope of this clause shall lose their job or be discriminated against for so acting.
- 6.5.2. A shift change can be made and approved by a local Supervisor/Coordinator as long as the request is made by two qualified parties, within the same pay period and no overtime is a result of the exchange.
- AMEND TO 6.5.2 Shift Changes or giveaways can be made if approved by a supervisor or coordinator in advance of the shift. It is understood and agreed that no shift exchange or giveaway shall result in one employee receiving any premium payment. Furthermore, it is understood that the intent of this provision is not to permit employees to permanently trade away their shifts which were subject to the shift bid process.
- 7.1 The Union shall appoint or elect Shop Stewards from regular Employees who have completed one year of service with the Employer and shall notify the Employer in writing of the appointment or election. The Union will ensure that there is a Shop Steward or Union Representative available during the operating hours of the Employer's business. The Employer shall only recognize such Shop Stewards when notified in writing by the Union, and shall not discriminate against them for lawful Union activity.
- 7.2. The Union shall supply to Management on or about each January 1, a list of the employees acting as Shop Stewards. Such list will indicate the name of the employee and the location. The Union will notify the Employer of any changes to the list of Shop Stewards as they occur.

- 7.3. Shop Stewards will suffer no loss of regular pay when processing grievances under Steps 1 and 2 of the Grievance Procedure. It is understood that the Shop Stewards have their regular work to perform and that when it is necessary to service a grievance during working hours they will not leave their work without receiving permission from their immediate Supervisor or Employer designate. Such permission will not be unreasonably denied. When resuming their work, they will report back to their immediate supervisor or Employer designate.
- 7.4. The Employer will notify the Union prior to the dismissal of any Shop Steward.
- 7.5 Members of the negotiating committee who are employees of the Employer shall suffer no loss in pay for time spent during normal working hours attending negotiations, conciliation and mediation meetings for up to a maximum of five (5) days pay per person. Once a No-Board report has been issued, the employer will no longer maintain pay for the negotiating committee.

#### **AMEND TO:**

- 7.1 The Union shall appoint or elect **Union Officers** from regular employees who have completed one year of service with the Employer and shall notify the Employer in writing of the appointment or election. The Union will ensure that there is a **Union Officer** or Union Representative available during the operating hours of the Employer's business. The Employer shall only recognize such **Union Officers** when notified in writing by the Union, and shall not discriminate against them for lawful Union activity. **The Employer will supply and install bulletin boards in both terminals.**
- 7.2 The Union shall supply to Management on or about each January 1, a list of the employees acting as **Union Officers**. Such list will indicate the name of the employee and the location. The Union will notify the Employer of any changes to the list of Shop Stewards as they occur.
- 7.3 Union Officers will suffer no loss of regular pay when processing grievances under Steps 1 and 2 of the Grievance Procedure. It is understood that the Union Officers have their regular work to perform and that when it is necessary to service a grievance during working hours they will not leave their work without receiving permission from their immediate Supervisor or Employer designate. Such permission will not be unreasonably denied. When resuming their work, they will report back to their immediate supervisor or Employer designate.

- 7.4 The Employer will notify the Union prior to the dismissal of any **Union Officer**.
- 7.5 Members of the negotiating committee who are employees of the Employer shall suffer no loss in pay for time spent during normal working hours attending negotiations, conciliation and mediation meetings for up to a maximum of ten (10) days pay per person which will include one (1) day after bargaining has completed for the purposes of reviewing and editing the collective agreement.

Once a No-Board report has been issued, the employer will no longer maintain pay for the negotiating committee.

### **NEW**

7.6 The Company agrees to supply on request, to the national representative of Unifor or their designate, the names of all members of the union working for the company.

# **NEW**

7.7 The Company agrees to advise the steward concerned when an employee is hired, terminated, transferred, reclassified, demoted, dismissed or promoted to a management position. Such advice shall be given to the Steward within a reasonable time of the employee being hired.

#### **NEW**

- 7.8 The Company will provide the union with a copy of the Seniority list each quarter. This list will include the name of the employee, job title, seniority, wage schedule and classification. (full time, part time or casual).
- 8.1. All employees will purchase their own first uniform in accordance with the following values and will remit payment by payroll deduction in an amount not to exceed twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) per pay period. In the event an employee is terminated from employment for any reason, all remaining outstanding amounts will be deducted from the final pay cheque in one lump sum.

<u>Full Time Tactical:</u> <u>Part Time Tactical:</u>

3 Shirts 2 Shirts

2 Pairs of Pants 1 Pair of Pants

1 Tie 1 Tie

1 Hat 1 Hat

1 Bomber Jacket 1 Bomber Jacket

<u>Full Time Tactical</u> <u>Part Time Tactical</u>

\$385.00 \$265.00

#### **AMEND TO**

8.1. All employees will purchase their own first uniform in accordance with the following values and will remit payment by payroll deduction in an amount not to exceed twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) per pay period. In the event an employee is terminated from employment for any reason, all remaining outstanding amounts will be deducted from the final pay cheque in one lump sum.

<u>Full Time Tactical:</u> <u>Part Time Tactical:</u>

4 Shirts 2 Shirts

2 Pairs of Pants 1 Pair of Pants

1 Tie 1 Tie 1 Hat 1 Hat

1 **Sweater or** Bomber Jacket 1 Bomber Jacket

<u>Full Time Tactical</u> <u>Part Time Tactical</u>

\$405.00 \$285.00

8.5. The Employer shall hold back \$50.00 for each piece of ID that they are issued through their tenure of employment with the company. Upon termination of employment the employee is required to return their ID prior to the last processing date for payment of wages to ensure that the hold back is refunded.

#### Amend to:

8.5 (Change) The Employer shall hold back \$50.00 for each piece of ID that the **employee** is issued through their tenure with the company. Upon termination of employment the employee is required to return their ID prior to the last processing date for payment of wages. The total cost of each piece of ID, as defined by the G.T.A.A ,will be withheld from wages until proof of return is provided

9.1.1. All employees will co-operate in the strict observance of all safety regulations at all times. They will make full use of all safety and accident prevention devices and equipment as provided and maintain safe working practices during their hours of employment within the Airport. It is the responsibility of the employees to observe all safety provisions and to immediately advise the Employer and the Safety Committee Member of any unsafe working conditions.

The Employer agrees to maintain provisions for the safety of its employees during the hours of employment and to provide an accident prevention program with reference to accident hazards.

For the safety of employees, the Union members of the Safety Committee shall be elected by the members involved.

Any outstanding matter relevant to safety conditions may be brought up and dealt with at a meeting between the Union and Employer should the matter not be resolved between the Safety Committee and the Employer.

The Employer agrees to adhere to the first aid requirements as per the Canada Labour Code.

# Amend to

9.1.1 ...

The Employer agrees to maintain provisions for the safety of its employees during the hours of employment and to provide an accident prevention program with reference to accident hazards. The Union shall appoint or elect Health and Safety Officers as per the Unifor Local 2002 By-laws.

•••

9.1.4 Both the employer and the union jointly declare their intent to develop and maintain a safe workplace and agree that work practices shall be governed by the CLC and Health and Safety Act their amendments from time to time.

# AMEND TO

9.1.4 Both the employer and the union jointly declare their intent to develop and maintain a safe workplace and agree that work practices shall be governed by all applicable legislation.

12.4 All disciplinary action, save and except discipline imposed for harassment, workplace violence, shall be withdrawn from the employees personnel record eighteen(18) months from the date on the disciplinary notice and cannot be used against the employee at a later date.

# **AMEND TO**

- 12.4 All disciplinary action, save and except discipline imposed for harassment, workplace violence, **theft or security breaches** shall be withdrawn from the employees personnel record eighteen(18) months from the date on the disciplinary notice and cannot be used against the employee at a later date.
- 14.8. Should a General Holiday occur while an employee is on vacation, the employee shall receive another day off with pay at the end of their vacation period, in lieu of said General Holiday. Vacation lists will be posted quarterly, and employees shall select their choice of vacation in order of seniority.

# **AMEND TO**

- 14.8 Should a General Holiday occur while an employee is on vacation, the employee shall receive another day off with pay at the end of their vacation period, in lieu of said General Holiday. All available vacation weeks will be posted annually and be available by November 15th for the following year. Employees shall select their choice of vacation in order of seniority.
- 15.2 Each full-time employee shall be paid 1/20th of the wages he has earned during the thirty calendar days immediately preceding that general holiday which is calculated from the first day on payroll. In order to qualify for General Holiday pay, employees must work their last scheduled shift before the holiday and their first regularly scheduled shift after the holiday, and work their scheduled shift on the holiday if the holiday falls on the employee's regularly scheduled day of work.

# **AMEND TO:**

15.2. Following the first thirty (30) days of employment each full-time employee shall be paid 1/20th of the wages, excluding overtime, they have earned in the four (4) week period immediately preceding the week in which the general holiday occurs. In order to qualify for General Holiday pay, employees must work their last scheduled shift before the holiday and their first regularly scheduled shift after the holiday, and work their

scheduled shift on the holiday if the holiday falls on the employee's regularly scheduled day of work.

15.3 Following the first thirty (30) days of employment each permanent parttime employee shall be paid 1/20th of the wages he has earned during the thirty calendar days immediately preceding that general holiday. In order to qualify for General Holiday pay, employees must have worked on at least fifteen (15) of the thirty (30) days immediately before that specific General Holiday.

# Amend to:

15.3. Following the first thirty (30) days of employment each permanent parttime employee shall be paid 1/20th of the wages, excluding overtime,
they have earned in the four (4) week period immediately preceding the
week in which the general holiday occurs. In order to qualify for General
Holiday pay, employees must work their last scheduled shift before the
holiday and their first regularly scheduled shift after the holiday, and work
their scheduled shift on the holiday if the holiday falls on the employee's
regularly scheduled day of work.

# 16.5. For purposes of any assignment displacements;

- a) The affected employee shall displace the most junior person on same shift, same status, within the classification, so that they can keep their same 'time of day' hours if possible.
- b) the first displaced employee will displace the most junior on another shift, same status, within the classification if possible or (e),
- the second displaced junior employee will displace the most junior employee on the last shift, same status, within the classification if possible or (e)
- d) the last employee displaced will be offered casual work when available.
- e) Any employee can opt to go directly to a casual status during this process and the displacements will stop at that point.

# Amend to:

16.5 For purposes of any assignment displacements/post closures;

...

Any employee promoted to any position outside the bargaining unit, and at a later date proves to be unsatisfactory for any such position, or there is a reduction in staff of the department, or if the employee wishes not to accept such position, may be reinstated to his/her former position without loss of seniority, or accrued seniority, provided this occurs within ninety (90) days of the promotion, providing they continue paying union dues. Any persons who use this clause to return to the bargaining unit, for whatever reason, will be restricted from bidding positions for a period of twenty-four (24) months. The Employer shall provide the Union with a separate seniority list for full-time and part-time employees, giving the names of employees and dates they commenced employment, immediately after the signing of this agreement and every six (6) months after that, and shall also post a copy of the seniority list at the site.

#### Amend to

- 16.6 (a) Any employee promoted to any position outside the bargaining unit, and at a later date proves to be unsatisfactory for any such position, or there is a reduction in staff of the department, or if the employee wishes not to accept such position on a permanent basis, may be reinstated to his/her former position within the bargaining unit without loss of seniority, or accrued seniority, provided this occurs within ninety (90) days of the promotion, providing they continue paying union dues.
  - (b) Any persons who use this clause to return to the bargaining unit under 6.5.2(a) will be provided shifts in the same/similar manner but not necessarily same shift location as prior to departing for the role outside of the bargaining unit
- 16.12 When there are shift vacancies available a notice of such vacancies will be posted as far in advance as possible. The deadline date for acceptance of applications will be no less than seven (7) days after the posting. Classification/Department Seniority shall prevail provided the employee has the necessary qualifications posted for the vacancy. The same practice will apply with regards to filling training vacancies when training classes are scheduled. If an employee fails a particular training course, said employee will be restricted from re-applying for the same training course for a period of one year.

# Amend to:

- 16.12 When there are shift vacancies available a notice of such vacancies will be posted as far in advance as possible. The deadline date for acceptance of applications will be no less than seven (7) days after the posting. Classification/Department Seniority shall prevail provided the employee has the necessary qualifications posted for the vacancy. The same practice will apply with regards to filling training vacancies when training classes are scheduled. If an employee fails a particular training course, said employee will be restricted from reapplying for the same training course for a period of six (6) months.
- 17. 8 The Employer shall have the right to revise shifts at any time in order to meet airline scheduling changes and customer work requirements. Should only a certain number of employees be required to revise their shift times, the Employer will endeavour to accomplish this on a volunteer basis in order of seniority.

#### Amend to:

- 17. 8 The Employer shall have the right to revise shifts at any time in order to meet **operational** scheduling changes and customer work requirements. Should only a certain number of employees be required to revise their shift times, the Employer will endeavour to accomplish this on a volunteer basis in order of seniority.
- The Employer will offer the opportunity to Part-time employees to move to Full-time prior to offering work to new employees. Seniority (Classification) will be the deciding factor as to who would move to Part-time should positions be available. Should Part-time employees choose to go to Full-time, they will maintain their classification seniority for a period of ninety (90) days. If after ninety (90) days, they choose to remain as permanent Full-time, they will be placed on the Full time seniority list as of the date of the transfer. Should they choose to return to Part-time status at a later date, they will be placed at the bottom of the Part-time seniority list when an opening occurs in part-time.

# Amend to:

18.6 The Employer will offer the opportunity to Part-time employees to move to Full-time prior to offering work to new employees. Seniority (Classification) will be the deciding factor as to who would move to Part-time should positions be available. Part-time employees who go to Full-time, they will **remain in** their classification seniority for a period of ninety (90) days. If after ninety (90) days,

they choose to remain as permanent Full-time, they will be placed on the Full time seniority list as of the date of the transfer. Should they choose to return to Part-time status at a later date, they will be placed at the bottom of the Part-time seniority list when an opening occurs in part-time.

# **NEW**

### 18.10 TEMPORARY PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

- 18.10 (a) Temporary part-time employees are casual employees who have posted into a temporary part-time position. These employees
  - (b) Temporary part-time employees will be governed by collective agreement language that governs part-time employees with the following exceptions:
    - (i) The Employer can end the contract of a temporary part-time employee in the same manner as set out in Article L6.2; and
    - (ii) Temporary part-time employees will be paid in accordance with the temporary part-time employee or temporary part time employee specialist wage grids as set out in Schedule "A".
- 18.10 (c) (i) The Parties agree that in year one of this agreement, the maximum about of casual guards who can convert into temporary part-time employees are 10 casual guards and 5 specialists;
  - (ii) in year two of this agreement, the maximum about of casual guards who can convert into temporary part-time employees are 20 casual guards and 10 specialists, inclusive of the casual employees who covered in year 1 as described in 18.10(c)(i);
  - (iii) in year three of this agreement, the maximum about of casual guards who can convert into temporary part-time employees are 30 casual guards and 15 specialists, inclusive of the casual employees who covered in years 1 and 2 as described in 18.10(c) (i) and (ii).

# 22.3. Sick days shall be provided as follows:

The Employer shall credit each current full-time employee with one (1) sick day per annum. After January 1 2015 the Employer shall credit each current full-time employee with two (2) sick days per annum.

Payment of sick days shall be applied in the following manner.

One full day's pay for the sick day provided that the day is a regular working day. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to claim for accredited sick days on such forms as the Employer may prescribe and must be taken within the calendar year. The sick day shall not be carried over from one year to the next.

Any proven abuse of the sick day provision will subject the employee to immediate dismissal without recourse to the grievance procedure.

#### **Amend To**

22.3 Sick days shall be provided as follows:

The Employer shall credit each current full-time employee with **three (3)** sick days per annum. Payment of sick days shall be applied in the following manner.

One full day's pay for the sick day provided that the day is a regular working day. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to claim for accredited sick days on such forms as the Employer may prescribe and must be taken within the calendar year. **Sick days** shall not be carried over from one year to the next **and are not paid out.** 

Any proven abuse of the sick day provision will subject the employee to immediate dismissal without recourse to the grievance procedure.

L3.2 The new schedule will be posted seven (7) days prior to June 1 each year, after which management will consult with the employees in order of classification seniority to allow them to pick their preferred shift. Once that shift is picked it is ineligible for others to pick. The next person in order of seniority will pick their preferred shift, etc. etc. Seniority by classification will prevail for the purpose of this selection.

# **AMEND TO**

L3.2 The new schedule will be posted seven (7) days prior to a shift bid that will occur by **October 15th of each year**, after which management will consult with the employees in order of classification seniority to allow them to pick their preferred shift. Once that shift is picked it is ineligible for others to pick, the next person in order of seniority will pick their preferred shift, etc. etc. Seniority by classification will prevail for the purpose of this selection.

- A Casual employee will work on a defined term or task contract. There is no guarantee of hours to be worked. Contracts from the employer may provide for up to one year of employment and such contracts may end at any time during that one year period upon the provision of one (1) week of notice or pay in lieu of notice, which week shall be based on average earnings for the previous seven weeks.
- L6.5 In lieu of benefits, pension and in recognition of the irregular schedule and work opportunity, the Employer and the Union agree that until the stated expiry date in the current collective agreement, Casual employees will be provided with an additional payment of \$1.25 per hour. This payment shall not be factored into vacation pay, overtime pay nor shall it pyramid any similar claim.

# Amend to:

- A Casual Employee will work on a defined term or task contract. There is no guarantee of hours to be worked. Such contracts may end at anytime **upon provision** of one week notice or pay in lieu of notice, which week shall be based on average earnings for the previous seven weeks.
- 6.5 to be deleted. Amount has been rolled into wage grid.

# **NEW**

6.X Any casual employee who has been placed or continuously worked a continuous shift for a period of six (6) consecutive months or longer in a permanent post will be offered a permanent position (either full-time or part-time at the employer's discretion) within the organization. The Parties agree that such an offer does not have to be posted in accordance with Article 16 (Job Posting).

August 16/16 - December 31/17 Year 1

	Terminal Access Control	Backflow	Access Control (Ad- Hoc, Gates, Airlines)	Door Patrol	Screening Services	Security Driver	On-Call Casual	Temp PTE	USCBP & ASES	Casual Specialist	Temp PTE Specialist	Canine	Gate Gourmet Gatehouse/ Reception	Gate Gourmet Patrol	Gates NPSv
Start Rate	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$12.70	\$11.40	\$12.65		\$20.00	\$19.75		\$25.00	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40
3 Months					\$13.09					\$20.20					\$13.50
6 Months												\$30.30			
After 1 year	\$12.09	\$12.09	\$12.09	\$14.00	\$13.36	\$13.15		\$11.80	\$20.20		\$18.50	\$30.30	\$11.88	\$12.23	\$13.50
After 2 years	\$12.43	\$12.43	\$12.43	\$14.00	\$13.64	\$13.47		\$11.80	\$20.20		\$18.50	\$30.30	\$11.88	\$12.23	\$13.50
After 3 years	\$12.80	\$12.80	\$12.80	\$15.00	\$13.90	\$13.84		\$11.80	\$20.20		\$18.50	\$30.30	\$11.88	\$12.23	\$13.50
After 4 years	\$13.13	\$13.13	\$13.13	\$15.00		\$14.17		\$11.80	\$20.20		\$18.50	\$30.30	\$11.88	\$12.23	\$13.50
After 5 years	\$13.56	\$13.56	\$13.56	\$15.00		\$14.38		\$11.80	\$20.20		\$18.50	\$30.30	\$11.88	\$12.23	\$13.50
Top Rate	\$14.24	\$14.24	\$14.24	\$15.50		\$15.15		\$11.80	\$20.20		\$18.50	\$30.30	\$11.88	\$12.23	\$13.50

January 1/18 - December 31/18 Year 2

_	Access Control (Ad-Hoc, Gates, Airlines)	d- Door is, Patrol	Screening Services	Security Driver	On-Call Casual	Temp PTE	USCBP & ASES	Casual Specialist	Temp PTE Specialist	Canine	Gate Gourmet Gatehouse/ Reception	Gate Gourmet Patrol	Gates NPSv
\$11.40 \$11.40 \$12		\$11.40	\$12.70	\$11.40	\$ 12.78		\$20.00	\$19.75		\$25.00	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40
			\$13.22										\$13.70
										\$30.60			
\$12.21 \$12.21 \$14.14			\$13.50	\$13.28		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70
\$12.56 \$12.56 \$14.14			\$13.77	\$13.61		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70
\$12.92 \$12.92 \$15.15			\$14.04	\$13.98		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70
\$13.26 \$13.26 \$15.15				\$14.31		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70
\$13.70   \$13.70   \$15.15				\$14.53		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70
\$14.38 \$14.38 \$15.66				\$15.30		\$11.80	\$20.40		\$18.50	\$30.60	\$12.00	\$12.35	\$13.70

January 1/19 - December 31/19 Year 3

	Terminal Access Control	Backflow	Access Control (Ad- Hoc, Gates, Airlines)	Door Patrol	Screening Services	Security Driver	On-Call Casual	Temp PTE	USCBP & ASES	Casual Specialist	Temp PTE Specialist	Canine	Gate Gourmet Gatehouse/ Reception	Gate Gourmet Patrol	Gates NPSv
Start Rate	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$12.70	\$11.40	\$12.91		\$20.00	\$19.75		\$25.00	\$11.40	\$11.40	\$11.40
3 Months					\$13.35										\$13.91
6 Months												\$30.91			
After 1 year	\$12.33	\$12.33	\$12.33	\$14.28	\$13.64	\$13.41		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91
After 2 years	\$12.69	\$12.69	\$12.69	\$14.28	\$13.91	\$13.75		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91
After 3 years	\$13.05	\$13.05	\$13.05	\$15.30	\$14.18	\$14.12		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91
After 4 years	\$13.39	\$13.39	\$13.39	\$15.30		\$14.45		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91
After 5 years	\$13.84	\$13.84	\$13.84	\$15.30		\$14.68		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91
Top Rate	\$14.52	\$14.52	\$14.52	\$15.82		\$15.45		\$11.80	\$20.60		\$18.50	\$30.91	\$12.12	\$12.47	\$13.91

# **Letter of Understanding**

Re: OSR Terms and Conditions

WHEREAS the OSR classification did not exist prior to this round of collective bargaining;

AND WHEREAS the Parties desire a mutual understanding of the terms and conditions of the collective agreement which apply to employees within the OSR classification;

The Parties agree as follows:

All of the terms and conditions of the collective agreement apply to the OSR classification with the exception of the following modifications:

1. Article 8.1 (uniforms) does not apply and is replaced with:

OSR employees will be supplied with the following uniform components:

# Ladies Full-time:

Jacket 1

Waistcoat 1

Blouse 3

Skirt1

Trouser 2

Scarf 1

# Ladies Part-time:

Jacket 1

Waistcoat 1

Blouse 2

Skirt1

Trouser 1

Scarf 1

# Men's Full-time:

Jacket 1

Waistcoat 1

Shirt 3

Trouser 3

Tie 2

# Men's Part-time:

Jacket 1

Waistcoat 1

Shirt 2

Trouser 2

Tie 2

- 2. Article 8.3 will require OSRs to wear black CSA approved footwear in areas or posts designated by the Employer.
- 3. Articles 20.1 20.3, and 20.5 do not apply.
- 4. Article 20.6 amended to only include RAIC and not Access Control Certification requirement.
- 5. Refresher training for existing employees (For OSR only)

Each OSR employee shall complete A.S.P.'s customer service training program annually. If for any reason an employee does not, or is unable to successful complete the customer service training by his or her anniversary date, the employee shall be placed on a without pay leave, and the employer shall not be held responsible for any loss of wages or benefits as a result. Any OSR employee who does not successfully complete the training within 3 months past their anniversary date will have his or her seniority cease and employment shall be terminated.

6. The Wage Grid is as follows;

OSR	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3
Start Rate	\$13.25	\$13.25	\$13.25
After 3 Months	\$14.00	\$14.21	\$14.42

7. LOU 3 – Shift bid will occur annually on February 1 of each calendar year.

- 8. LOU 3 First shift bid will take place on January 30, 2017
- 9. LOU 3.7 replace with:

# LOU 3.7 (i)

Hours not deemed as part of the full time complement and any outstanding hours not allocated will be available to the part time employees per Article No. 18 who will be scheduled between sixteen (16) and thirty (30) hours per week. Any remaining hours will be distributed to On-Call Casual employees as per Article No. 19, if On-Call Casual employees exist within the OSR classification.

# Add LOU 3.7(ii)

Where additional shifts become available, such shifts will be offered in seniority order (full time, part-time, on-casual), to employees who have signed up via the company portal. Shifts will be awarded in seniority order and by the total number of hours worked in that quarter in order to avoid triggering an overtime situation as a result of accepting the shift.

#### MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN

# A.S.P. INCORPORATED AND

# **UNIFOR, LOCAL 2002**

WHEREAS the Parties have agreed to a Letter of Understanding regarding shift bidding (Letter of Understanding No. 3);

AND WHEREAS the Letter of Understanding No. 3 provides for an annual shift bid for all classifications.

AND WHEREAS external circumstances regarding client demands and changing schedules have necessitated an additional shift bid to be implemented in a twelve (12) month period for the OSR classification;

THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

Add L3.2 (ii)

The OSR classification will bid two (2) times annually. The new schedule will be posted seven (7) days prior to both the summer and winter shift bid, after which management will consult with the employees in order of classification seniority to allow them to pick their preferred shift. Once that shift is picked it is ineligible for others to pick. The next person in order of seniority will pick their preferred shift, etc. etc. Seniority by classification will prevail for the purpose of this selection.

Add L3.4 (ii)

The shifts will be implemented on the last Sunday in March for the summer bid and the last Sunday in October for the winter bid, but not less than fourteen (14) days following the end of the shift selections.

Dated this 9th day of November, 2017

On behalf of the Union

On behalf of the Employer

